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Corporate Information
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In case of any inconsistency between the English text and Chinese

translation of the annual report, the English text shall prevail.
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Corporate Information (Continued)
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Financial Highlights

B
Year Ended 31 March
BE=-A=t-HL%FE
2022 2021
—E-CF —E_—&
Revenue W A HK$38.9 million HK$339.5 million
(Restated)
SRR VDA 33958 B (ES)
Profit attributable to owners of the parent BRAEEAEE RN HK$285.1 million HK$466.7 million
285 1EE#R T Y66 TEERTT
Basic earnings per share BREARERN HK1.88 cents HK3.07 cents
1.883 1l 3.077% L
Year Ended 31 March
HE=-A=t-HL%FE
2022 2021
—E-C& —E-—F
Total assets BEE HK$10,605.6 million HK$10,203.1 million
10,605.6E & & T 1020318 8% T
Net assets EEFE HK$5,183.9 million HK$5,034.3 million
518398 E# 503438887
Net asset value per share BREEFHE HK$0.34 HK$0.33
0.347& T 0.33% 7T
Gearing ratio BERE 68.2% 77.1%
REVENUE PROFIT ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
WA OF THE PARENT
B AREE AEGEF
HK$ million HK$ million
BEAT BEET
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ASSETS EMPLOYED
FTR&EE

As at 31 March 2022
RZEZ=—F=A=+—H

Asset Management
Property BETE
Investment 0.1%
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Cash and
Corporate Assets

REeRRREE

Property
Development
" s0a%

EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO OWNERS
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Financial Highlights (Continued)
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CAPITAL AND LIABILITIES
BEXRER

As at 31 March 2022
RZEZZF=H=+—H
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Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS,

On behalf of the board of directors of Wang On Properties
Limited (the "Company”, together with its subsidiaries, the
“Group”), | am pleased to present the annual results of the
Group for the year ended 31 March 2022 (the “Financial
Year").

PERFORMANCE REVIEW

Although the world continued to be affected by the COVID-19
pandemic in 2021, the economy recovered significantly as
global demand rebounded sharply. The Hong Kong economy
recorded steady growth in 2021 and the residential property
market was generally buoyant in 2021, albeit with a slight lull
in the latter part of the year. While the recovery of the local
economy was supported by a low interest rate environment
and solid user demand, the subsequent adjustment in the
local stock market and rising concerns about interest rate
hikes in the United States weakened the market sentiment and
created uncertainty for the economy. Therefore, the Group
maintained a cautiously optimistic strategy towards the Hong
Kong property development market and was open to various
kinds of development project, contributing to the Company's
performance with a prudent investment approach.

For the Financial Year, the Group's revenue and profit
attributable to shareholders amounted to approximately
HK$38.9 million and HK$285.1 million, respectively. The profit
amongst was mainly attributable to the delivery of jointly
developed property projects. The Group will continue to
actively replenish its land bank for future development of new
projects and share of profits from joint ventures.

ITHRAERKE

BRURER:

N A 5& X % Wang On Properties Limited 72 &
WEERAR(EAR] EREMBRR @ 4
BAEEDEEFE MAREASEHZEZ
T _F=RA=1TBLEFE(XHREE]
CREHEE -

KEADME

R F 2REAEBEIHNEREBERE
BEREZRRFRLAERE EEREESH -
EERBE_T_—FREREEBER ME=X
MEMBE_T_—FEERLE BEEFNA
BEHBEAEE - EERE BENAREILR
ABRENSEHFRIST  EEREZEX
WhETNHAE - M EHXENENE BRI -
ISR - HREHRTARREE - #ut
AEEUETEMEZRME ERFERLE
BRRES - DRHSBUERABFHANEE
URBHNRENTARARRAEXERREM -

RABEREE  AEE 2 WA KRR EIEE A
7kl %) %38,900,0007% 7T K 285,100,0007% 7T °
ETHEMNEIBEREAFNBERYEIERNZS
AEBESRERBMBAELIER  AERRHF
HHEERERDZFRERR 2mA o
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Chief Executive Officer's Statement (Continued)

TTHRE®RE (F)

The Group’'s commercial properties continue to bring
steady regular income, which mainly include our wholly-
owned “"LADDER Dundas” at Nos. 575-575A Nathan Road,
Mongkok, retail podiums of “Lake Silver” in Wu Kai Sha and
“The Parkside” in Tseung Kwan O which partnered with an
investment fund. During the year, the Group acquired two
commercial projects, namely “THE PARKVILLE" in Tuen Mun
and Jumbo Court Carpark in Aberdeen, in a joint venture with
different partners to strengthen the Group's recurring income

and stabilise its financial position.

Gross revenue for the year FEAERA

Profit attributable to the BRAIER ARG
owners of the parent i A

Gross contract sales AHHES

Average price per square feet F3IR(E

2022
—E-_&

HK$38.9 million
389 BHERTT

HK$285.1 million
285.1 EEA T
HK$3,089.7 million
3,089.76EETT
HK$24,753
24,753%& T

EEg
AR -

Year ended 31 March
BE=A=1t-HALEE

2021
—E-—

HK$339.5 million
(Restated)
3¥95BHEET
(271)

HK$466.7 million
4667 BEB T
HK$2,572.9 million
257129 BEATT
HK$24,517

24,517 BT

AEEBETHEDERESTRBENEHRK
AFTHE: BEBETE2EHEBOE AR B ES75-
575A 5% [LADDER Dundas|* I EE & &5 &
B EE DR e R IEIRH KK ER[The
Parkside] 155 1HE - AV BEFE A&EH
EHRTREHEFEEREMEDEEE
W PIETHE PARKVILLEI N B A FHE EHE
Bt e NEBMEEHRA - BEH

il

2020
—“E-TE

—_—= ==

HK$2,383.7 million
(Restated)

23837 BEBT
(271)

HK$457.3 million
4573 BEBTT
HK$3,735.6 million
3735.6 BEEBTT
HK$19,454

19,454 7% T
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Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement (Continued)

Residential Property Development

“The Met.” has always been a prestigious urban boutique
residential brand curated by the Group. With the boutique
residential projects of the series located in the heart of
Hong Kong's metropolitan area, “The Met.” boasts a robust
transportation network, catering to buyers who prefer an
urban lifestyle, and has been much sought after by single
individuals, branch families and young homebuyers. In August
2021, the Group launched its first urban sea view project as
the brand series celebrated its 10th anniversary, which was the
new development project at the junction of Liu To Road and
Hang Mei Street, Tsing Yi (Tsing Yi Town Lot No. 192) — “The
Met. Azure”. The launch of the project was well received by
the market and its pre-sale performance was satisfactory, with
all units released for sales sold on the first day were sold out
on the same date. The project set the highest selling price per
square foot in the district. As at the date of this annual report,
an aggregate of 280 units were sold with gross contracted
sales of approximately HK$1.4 billion, and is expected to be
delivered in the second half of 2022.

Meanwhile, the Group has launched a luxury residential
brand series “"NOUVELLE" to suit varying needs of different
homebuyers, with the series developing mid-size quality
apartments. The Group together with CIFI Holdings (Group)
Co. Ltd. (“CIF1") has developed “maya” at No. 8 Shung Shan
Street and No. 15 Sze Shan Street, Yau Tong. As the sales of
properties continued during the Financial Year, an aggregate
of 323 units of “maya” were sold with contracted sales of
approximately HK$4.2 billion as at the date of this annual
report. The Group owns 50% interest in this development
project.

Besides, the "Altissimo” in Whitehead at No. 11 Yiu Sha
Road, Ma On Shan was co-developed by the Group with
Country Garden Holdings Company Limited and China State
Construction International Holdings Limited. An aggregate
of 528 units were sold with contracted sales of approximately
HK$6.2 billion as at the date of this annual report. The Group
owns 40% interest in this property development project.

TTHRE®RE ()

ETEMERR

[The Met. | —ERAKERBLRENMBHE
BREETME  ZRINBMETEBMERN
AHeRLEH BEXBRBHWNED O
B REEHETLEARURNER  AXEFA
T OXFERFEEXREERL -AKERZ
Z_—FN\AELRZMERI KL+ EFIAR
BEETEESRER UREREEBRTES

RR(BFRWBRI2F)NFHERIEER — [The
Met. Azure B E |- MG RERN  HFAER

REE BERZENBELEHNEE - ZHBA
TTZEEFIRNEREE BEEAFHRA
H - DEHEMHA280%  GHOHESEN4
BT - FFHR20225F THFR N o

A B R TEREmE INOUVELLE] B3I -
NETREXERTE  ZRIVWAEERENE
BExEU -EhAEEEMBEBEZER(ER)E
PR AR ([E 8 ]) H R 2 B &)k 3E [maya & Z (8
EEILHESHE R IMILEISR) WEEANEE
B BEEAFHRAH [maya B ZEEHE
i #£323% BRI ESENREE L &
SEHBZEEEANS0%ER °

I AEEBEREREEERERQA RHE
BREEREEARARARER LRBAANH
[Altissimo 3k 2 J(fiz 10 55 82 LU 8 X BR115R) - B
ERFEHRAY  HBACEHEMS28% - EFI AN
HESHOBBKR2EET -AEERARYE
HRIFANA0%E S ©
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Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement (Continued)

THARKRE (F)

Land Bank

For long-term development of its business, the Group
is always committed to building up its land bank by way
of actively bidding for government land and project
acquisitions, favouring sites with convenient transportation
and comprehensive community facilities. During the Financial
Year, the Group successfully acquired the following four old
building projects with the plan of redeveloping them into “The
Met.”, a boutique residential brand series, including:

(1) Nos. 12-16, 18-20, 22 and 24 Ting Yip Street, Ngau Tau
Kok;

(2) Nos. 31-41 Fei Fung Street, Wong Tai Sin and the
adjacent No. 45 Fei Fung Street and No. 110 Shatin Pass
Road;

(3) Nos. 26-48 Ming Fung Street, Wong Tai Sin; and

(4)  Nos. 5, 7 and 9 Wai Fung Street, and Nos. 34 and 36
Main Street, Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong.

+ it 5k 48

REEXBRRE AEE-EBEREB2ERER
FHEz LR FERRABYE  RE ML
B YU BHENRARE T ENHEER
BE e -MAPRFE AKEZKEBATNO
HEEZEE - BB EFHTE/IThe Met. |5
miEEmERY - B

(=) fLR A58 B F ¥ H12516 - 18520 ~ 22
2 2455

(D) LR ERIRBEINZAGE - G EAA

B 7R B85 455% Ko B BB 11055

(=) R EXSEE26E485 : &

(m) LR BEBBHMERES  7TRO%E R KEH
343655 ©
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Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement (Continued)

Asset Management

The Group continues to pursue its light asset management
strategy to expand its business with a more profitable,
faster and more sustainable operating model. We will take
advantage of the resources and networks of the capital
market to cooperate with various strategic partners to
increase return on capital with leverage, release the liquidity
of assets and reduce corporate debt ratios. The Group can
use its capital more effectively to accelerate the expansion
and development of its diversified businesses. This business
model not only decreases the impact of the risks associated
with market price fluctuations and cyclical economic
fluctuations but also dramatically reduces operational risks
and accelerates capital circulation. As always, the Group has
been actively developing various commercial properties for
people’s livelihood with its brand advantages and commercial
asset management expertise.

During the Financial Year, the Group formed a new joint
venture group (“Parkville JV") with three independent third
parties to acquire 11 store units and a number of lifts, lift
lobbies and staircases on the ground and the first floors of
THE PARKVILLE, No. 88 Heung Sze Wui Road, Tuen Mun, New
Territories at a consideration of HK$300 million (“Parkville
Property”), in which the Group owns 64%. The Parkville JV
will further refurbish the Parkville Property, which will optimise
the tenant mix and increase rental income as well as capital
appreciation.

During the year, the Group formed a joint venture company
("Jumbo JV") with another independent third party, Jumbo
Holding (BVI) L.P. ("Jumbo Holding"), to acquire the eight-
story carpark podium at Jumbo Court, No. 3 Welfare Road,
Aberdeen ("Jumbo Property”) at a consideration of HK$410.3
million, in which the Group owns 50%. It is expected that
the Jumbo Property project will be developed in phases
and can meet the massive demand for parking spaces. The
Jumbo Property will enhance the rental returns and capital
appreciation upon renovation.

THRARRE (E

EEERE

AEBEEERHEEEEERE  UERAN
BN ERBENEFAERINEERAE
RER - RMEEMEARTHHERMAE A L
TREREHAE MNBERGEADBERIR
2 EBREENORDE BRECENABX:
AEBREEAMMERES MELENZ
TEERBERRER SELLRATESR#
THHEEREHULEER R REHRD
Rk - FESAKEEZERELINRESER
AEE-—MAEHWEEMEEBNREREER
BEEXHNE BREREBERLETADE -

AYBEE AEEE=EABLE =T EKH
MEEtXEEER(RERSEDLE] a8NU
X {E300,000,0007% 7T 45 & % 57 0 I 28 = & B8
88 RAERM T R—BHNINEEHECLRET
THEEHE - FHER A E L2 8 ([Parkville 2 1) -
AEEEAHOAR s - REBEELEH
#— S B FParkville W % - BBFIL - ABEE
tHEPEAMEZMES BN RS EREE -

AEFE AEEHES B E =7 Jumbo
Holding (BVI) L.P. ([Jumbo Holding|) & {E Ak
A E AT ([Jumbo JV) - A 410,300,000
BTRBEESFTRANEINLERN\ERES
Ta(vEUE) KAEEESEHD50%H 72
= RO MRAEZEEYWRIEE AR
FEAMBLER - CEMEBNEITAERSHE
SERREREE -
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Chief Executive Officer's Statement (Continued)

THARKRE (F)

The Group previously partnered with Kohlberg Kravis Roberts
& Co. L.P. ("KKR"), one of the largest investment firms in the
U.S., to invest in and operate two retail mall projects, namely
“Lake Silver” and “The Parkside”. Each of the Group and KKR
owns 50% equity interests in these two projects. As at the
date of this annual report, the occupancy rates of these two
projects are 100% and over 85% respectively.

The "LADDER” is a brand of the Group established under
the theme of multi-story Ginza-type commercial complexes.
“LADDER Dundas”, a trendy commercial building located
at Nos. 575-575A Nathan Road, Mong Kok, hosts a variety
of distinctive restaurants and has become an iconic building
in Mong Kok. During the year, due to the impact of the
pandemic, the crowds in tourist-dependent areas decreased,
and economic activity in the district was weak. The Group
believes that as the outbreak subsides, the number of visitors
will rebound, which is expected to boost economic activity
in these commercial buildings. The Group will continue to
be open-minded in identifying various potential assets for
investment to enhance the scale of assets under management
in the Group's portfolio.

GIVING BACK TO COMMUNITY

While the pandemic has brought severe challenges to many
industries, it has further driven the cooperation between
the commercial sector and the community. On one hand,
the Group has devoted additional efforts to safeguard
shareholders’ interests and protect the health and safety of
employees and customers, and, on the other hand, actively
fulfils its corporate social responsibility to develop an inclusive
society at the same time.

AEBERREZBEZEANKRERAZ—
Kohlberg Kravis Roberts & Co. [KKRJ) A fE -
TE MR e K& ] & [The Parkside ] /@ &
TEMBIER - AEEBRKKREFMEER 2
50% % - RAFHEH  MEBEBE 5 H
f17100% K& #185% 2 HAEE -

AEBNREAZERE ST EZELADDER]
b e AL A BE £ 08 BB S75-575A 5% 2 # 7
EIEH[LADDER Dundas] - EFEZEAKE
MER TERSTARME AFEXRIB
BRERERENETERARRY  BA
REBEEDHRS AEEREEERBRE K
EHELOA  FEFHUEFELEETY - K
SEedEsHARARE VESEREBENE
ERE NMAKEEREACEREERE -

By 488
T

EltEtE

REHEARSTRETKBRELEZER  BAE—
THIHAELROANF  NEELBEER
NeERREER REETIREENRERR
2zH ARKEBRETOEHEEML  ERHA
R
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Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement (Continued)

The Group has always been keen on participating in charitable
events to promote social care. Since the beginning of the
fifth wave of the pandemic, the Group has been actively
contributing to fighting against the pandemic. The Group
has been working with various institutions, local district
associations and social enterprises to understand the needs
of various parties and provide appropriate funding support
and donation of supplies. Such donations include 5,000 boxes
of rapid test kits, 1,000 bags of Wai Yuen Tong anti-pandemic
gift, 1,200 boxes of Lianhua Qingwen capsules, masks and
daily necessities, etc. Through the local networks of various
organisations, the Group delivered anti-pandemic supplies to
the people in need. Beneficiary organisations include Hong
Kong CPPCC Youth Federation, Youth Anti-Coronavirus Link,
Youth Development Foundation, Hong Kong United Youth
Exchange Foundation, Chinese YMCA of Hong Kong, The
Hong Kong Taoist Association, the Hong Kong Volunteers
Against Coronavirus, Tsing Yi makeshift hospital, Choice
English School & Kindergarten (Tsing Yi Branch), etc. More
than 10,000 people benefited. In addition, volunteers of the
Group visited low-income families during the year, bringing
joy and positive energy to the underprivileged and putting
the Group's philosophy into practice.

In relation to education and youth development, the Group
has once again established Academic Excellence Scholarship
for Students of the Hang Seng University of Hong Kong to
recognise and honour academically outstanding students
and encourage them to engage in all-round development,
with the aim of nurturing professional service talents sought
after by the society to serve the public and give back to the
community. During the year, the Group continued to support
“Project WeCan"” and mobilised our resources and staff to
facilitate whole-person development at schools in need and
their students and promote cooperation between businesses
and schools, while encouraging exchange between our staff
and youngsters through appropriate projects, such as job-
tasting programme, industry seminar, etc.

TTHRE®RE ()

AEE-—BEARSERGEH/LSTER
EHE FRARRBHRBUAR AEERNE
BERERNE  BZEEE  HEAS D
THREIMTE REEVINERIFEIMER
g - B4R RE RIS AI50008 - LT ERRR
£1,0001p - EIEF R B #1,2008 - OERA
FAME BESRBNHESRS  LREY
BRBRAFTEALT XERBHBBERER
BnEFHE SIFRRER BTESFE
e EAETHMINRES BARATEREHF
FE(YMCA) - EEBHBAE 2BNKSE
TR®E BROTRER SREXERNEYH
B(ERIRE - XBEALTHEE—BA - IHN
AEEREIRFARDERARE BT
HHRRBELIHEE SR NTERAKEN
B

BERSFERFTHE AEEBEERTEEAE
REKEBENEAERURES  UREBHXRR
HENBERSBMMERER  SHEEH
EMENZERBAL  ARBAR - DR
g o RFEAREE#E X FProject WeCan 2
RESITE  FAKEERMAM EBHE
FENERMEBAET ARR - REBARAE "
WEBBIHEYNIBENTERBRTE - 175
BEE ANKBEIMEFEADERN °
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Chief Executive Officer's Statement (Continued)

THRARRE (E

OUTLOOK

Boosted by the strong recovery of the global economy in
2021, the subsequent pace of growth will continue to depend
on the development of the pandemic. Looking forward to
2022, it is expected that the residential market sentiment will
only be temporarily affected by Omicron. Should the overall
economic condition remains positive, with a consistent rigid
demand and low interest environment that drives property
prices, it is estimated that the general residential price will
slightly increase in 2022. 2022 marks the sixth anniversary of
the Group's listing and the inaugural year of the second five-
year plan. In the second five-year, we wish to vastly improve
the performance of the Group and steer our team to tap
into other tier-one cities in Asia after fortifying the business
foundation in Hong Kong. After establishing a property
corporate brand, we aim to strengthen the development of
the operating scale of the Group to become a front-runner in
the property sector in Hong Kong, with the aim of increasing
the market value of the Group and creating value for the
shareholders.

The Group will continue to optimise its asset management
by reviewing the situation and adjusting its asset portfolio in
response to market conditions. It will also continue to invest in
the development of new commercial and residential projects
through joint ventures with various funds, including APG
(Dutch state pension fund) and KKR (US private equity fund).
The Group will make good use of leverage to restructure its
debt structure, reduce debt risks to stabilise the cash flow
and increase investment returns by fully considering market
changes and assessing potential risks in investment projects.
The Group will pursue to transform into an asset management
company in an orderly manner to generate sustainable and
stable management fee income and lay the foundation for the
long-term steady development of the Group.
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Chief Executive Officer’'s Statement (Continued)

APPRECIATION

The Group has been focusing on its core real estate business,
and will adopt a more prudent approach towards business
development and financial policies in such challenging
business circumstances amid uncertainty during the COVID-19
pandemic. Last but not least, | would like to extend my
appreciation to all staff members for their dedicated efforts
and devoted service, | do hope we could ride out difficult
times together and strive to grow for a better future.

Tang Ho Hong
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer
Hong Kong, 27 June 2022
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL RESULTS

For the financial year ended 31 March 2022, the Group's
revenue and profit attributable to owners of the parent
amounted to approximately HK$38.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$339.5 million as restated) and
approximately HK$285.1 million (2021: approximately
HK$466.7 million), respectively. The profit for the year was
mainly attributable to the delivery of jointly developed
property projects and share of profits recognised from joint
ventures.

DIVIDEND

The Board has recommended the payment of a final dividend
of HKO.75 cent (2021: a final dividend of HK0.74 cent) per
ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2022 to
shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company as of Friday, 2 September 2022.
The final dividend will be paid on or around Wednesday, 14
September 2022, subject to shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Property Development

No revenue was recognised in this business segment during
the year (2021: approximately HK$301.3 million) as only two
joint venture projects had sales recognition during the year
which was accounted for as share of results of the joint
ventures but not revenue in the Group's consolidated financial
statements. The share of sales recognition of these two joint
venture projects amounted to approximately HK$858.7 million
(2021: approximately HK$3,343.8 million).

The delivery of remaining stocks of these two joint venture
projects, namely maya and Altissimo, in the financial year
contributed approximately HK$243.7 million of net profit to
the Group.

“maya”, which is located on No. 8 Shung Shan Street and No.
15 Sze Shan Street in Yau Tong was developed by the Group
together with CIFI Holdings (Group) Co. Ltd (“CIFI”). As at the
date of this announcement, 323 out of 326 units have been
sold, the aggregate sales proceeds amounted to
approximately HK$4.2 billion. The Group owns 50% equity
interest in this development project and is responsible for
project management.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)
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The Group's Whitehead project (No.11 Yiu Sha Road, Ma On
Shan), "Altissimo”, is co-developed with Country Garden
Holdings Company Limited and China State Construction
International Holdings Limited, and has been delivered to
buyers since the fourth quarter of 2020. As at the date of this
report, 528 of the 547 units released have been sold and the
aggregate sales proceeds amounted to approximately HK$6.2
billion. The Group owns 40% equity interest in this

development project.

The Met. Azure project located at the junction of Liu To Road
and Hang Mei Street, Tsing Yi (Tsing Yi Town Lot No. 192), the
latest project of “The Met.” series, the pre-sales was launched
in August 2021. Approximately 80% of the units are studio
flats and the others are one-bedroom and specific-designed
units. The project was well-received and sought after by single
people, branch families and young home buyers. As at the
date of this report, 280 out of 320 units released have been
sold with contracted sales of approximately HK$1.4 billion.

The units are expected to be delivered in the second half of
2022.

AEBEBERZERER AR R EZELEBRK
SEERAFARERMNBALEE(EH LR
D1 [AltissimoBh B EHZZE T FH
MEEXNTER - RARS B E - 547 &
8k S28FEEMEEL R HEMS
FIE & #76,200,000,0008 7T - KAEBRZERE
TH B BA0% S

BEEHAUNBTREMRBETEIHIA(FEK
T BR 381925%) » & [The Met. ] R 51| &) & #1718
B RAER_Z_—F/\ AL - 80%MHE
2 AFMGURE - BB R RS R B -
BEXEGAL DXRERFEEXEERLD
MBEE - RAREBH  20@LEE[F
EELUEDEL ENHEBROR
1,400,000,000/8 T - 2 FEEMFAF KR =F
T oFTHERMN -




ERWEBRAR « —T-—F5K 21

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

In February 2022, the Group has also completed the
acquisition of the site located at Nos. 12-16, 18-20, 22 and 24
Ting Yip Street, Ngau Tau Kok, Kowloon, Hong Kong, with a
total gross floor area of approximately 46,000 square feet.
This project will be re-developed as part of “The Met.” series.
The demolition work will be commenced in the third quarter
of 2022.

In February 2022, the Group has acquired full ownership of
the site located at Nos. 34-41, Fei Fung Street, Wong Tai Sin,
Kowloon through compulsory sales. It will be re-developed
with the adjacent site, No. 45 Fei Fung Street and 110 Shatin
Pass Road, as one of “The Met.” series. The total site area and
gross floor area are approximately 10,400 square feet and
93,700 square feet, respectively. The demolition work is now
underway.

In September 2021, the Group has successfully completed the
acquisition of the site located at Nos. 26-48 Ming Fung Street,
Wong Tai Sin through compulsory sales. The site area and
gross floor area are approximately 9,600 square feet and
81,000 square feet, respectively. This project will be re-
developed as part of “The Met.” series and the demolition
work is now underway.

In June 2021, the Group has acquired full ownership of the site
located at Nos. 34 and 36 Main Street, Nos. 5, 7 and 9 Wai
Fung Street, Ap Lei Chau, Hong Kong. The site area and gross
floor area is approximately 4,100 square feet and 38,500
square feet, respectively. This project will be re-developed as
part of “"The Met.” series and the demolition work is now
underway.

In January 2021, the Group has successfully completed the
acquisition of the site located at 50-62 Larch Street and 6-8
Lime Street Tai Kok Tsui through compulsory sales. The gross
floor area is approximately 61,500 square feet and the site is
currently under foundation work. This project will be re-
developed as part of “The Met.” series. The pre-sales are
expected to be commenced in the third quarter of 2022.
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In October 2020, the Group and CIFIl formed a new joint
venture group (the "CIFI JV”), in which CIFI and the Group
own 60% and 40% equity interest, respectively. The CIFI JV
has acquired 101 and 111 King's Road, Fortress Hill for a total
sum of HK$1.88 billion. The total site area is approximately
12,400 square feet. Situated between North Point commercial
area and Victoria Park in Causeway Bay, the sites of King's
Road are positioned at a convenient location within only a few
minutes’ walk to Fortress Hill MTR Station. The sites are
planned to be re-developed into a residential project with
commercial space. This project is in demolition stage.

In July 2020, the Group successfully acquired a new re-
development site in Ap Lei Chau (Nos. 120-126, Main Street,
Ap Lei Chau). The site is adjacent to Lei Tung MTR Station with
convenient and fast access to the South Island Line which
travels to and from central business districts in Hong Kong
and Kowloon. The total attributable gross floor area upon
redevelopment is approximately 37,1700 square feet.
Foundation work is currently undergoing at the site.

In April 2018, Rich United Limited, an indirect non-wholly
owned subsidiary of the Group, has completed the acquisition
of all the 16 properties located at Nos.86A-86D Pokfulam
Road, Hong Kong. The site is located at a traditional luxury
residential area with easy access to Central. It will be re-
developed into luxurious properties and is undergoing the
foundation works. The Group owns 70% equity interest in this
property development project.

In 8 November 2021, the Group has entered into a
subscription and shareholders’ agreement (the “Transaction”)
with the depositary of APG Strategic Real Estate Pool ("APG").
After the subscription of share from the Group, a new joint
venture company (the “APG JV") is formed to engage in
acquisition of residential properties in Hong Kong for
development and re-development for sales. The Group has
subscribed for a 50% equity interest in the APG JV with a
maximum total capital commitment of HK$2,334 million. The
APG JV is accounted for as a 50% jointly-owned entity of the
Group and it is accounted for under the equity method of
accounting in the Group's consolidated financial statements.
The Group considers the co-operation with the APG presents
a good opportunity to leverage on the Group's knowledge
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

and expertise in property acquisition and project
management and to partner with an experienced investor to
expand the business. Please refer to the Group's
announcement dated 8 November 2021 and circular dated 8
December 2021 for details. The Transaction constituted a very
substantial acquisition of the Company under the Listing
Rules, and was approved by the shareholders of the Company
in December 2021. Four wholly-owned projects, namely (i)
Nos.120-126, Main Street, Ap Lei Chau, (ii) Nos. 34 and 36
Main Street, Nos. 5, 7 and 9 Wai Fung Street, Ap Lei Chau, (iii)
Nos. 26-48 Ming Fung Street, Wong Tai Sin, and (iv) Nos. 31—
41 and 45 Fei Fung Street, Wong Tai Sin, were sold to the APG
JV by March 2022. Such disposals constituted a very
substantial disposal of the Company under the Listing Rules
and they were approved by the shareholders of the Company
in December 2021. Further details of such disposals were set
out in the Company’s announcement and circular dated 8
November 2021 and 8 December 2021, respectively.

In February 2022, City Arise Limited ("City Arise”), a wholly-
owned subsidiary of the Group, entered into a sales and
purchase agreement (the “Sales and Purchase Agreement”)
with the APG JV to sell the entire issued share capital and
shareholder’s loan of True Promise Limited (“True Promise”)
at an initial consideration of approximately HK$490.7 million.
True Promise is a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Group and
the sole owner of the site located at Nos. 12-16, 18-20, 22 and
24 Ting Yip Street, Ngau Tau Kok, Kowloon. On 11 April 2022,
City Arise entered into a supplemental agreement with the
APG JV and Delight Venture Limited (“"Delight Venture”), a
wholly-owned subsidiary of the APG JV to amend and
supplement the Sale and Purchase Agreement, pursuant to
which the APG JV agreed to novate and Delight Venture
agreed to assume all rights and obligations of the APG JV in
and under the Sales and Purchase Agreement. Please refer to
the Company’s announcement dated 18 February 2022 and
circular dated 20 April 2022 for details. This transaction was
completed on 11 May 2022.
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As at 27 June 2022, the Group's development land portfolio is
as follows:

(Continued)
RZEZ__FRNAZTLH AEBEZEE
HASWT:

Interest

Approximate  Approximate Anticipated year attributable to

Location site area gross floor area Intended usage of completion the Group

ik BOREER BHAREER ReER% BORIEE AEEEHER
(Square feet)  (Square feet)

72 A)
(Fr 4

Nos. 86A-86D Pokfulam Road EHMESA-86D T 28,500 28500 Residential 2023 70%
fr= “E-CF
Junction of Liu To Road and Hang Mei RiRETEEIR 14,400 90,000 Residential and Commercial -~ 2022 100%
Street (Tsing Yi Town Lot No. 192) ERFH R FERFE k- St 2
£192%)
Nos. 120-126 Main Street, Ap Lei Chau B 5 M A 51201265 3,600 37100 Residential and Commercial ~ 2024 50%
L EH i S 2
Nos. 34 and 36 Main Street, Nos. 5, 7and BBl A 4134k 365 M 4,100 38,500 Residential and Commercial 2025 50%
9 Wai Fung Street, Ap Lei Chau RERBAS - TRIT FEREZ Ik S k3
50-62 Larch Street and 6-8 Lime Street Tai A &M 1R E50-62% 6,800 61500 Residential and Commercial 2024 100%
Kok Tsui RERE6-85 frEREE 12
Nos. 26-48 Ming Fung Street, Wong Tai Sin -~ & K{lI 1B B4 26-48% 9,600 81,000 Residential and Commercial 2025 50%
T b i3
Nos. 31-41 & 45 Fei Fung Street, Wong Tai -~ EAILREH31-H1R 10,400 93,700 Residential and Commercial ~ 2025 50%
Sin 45% FEREZ Ik i3
Nos. 12-16, 18-20, 22 and 24 Ting Yip ERATER-16 5,200 46,000 Residential and Commercial ~ 2025 50%
Street, Ngau Tau Kok 18-20 - 2R 24%: FERE% Ik S X2
101 and 111, King's Road KEH0INE 12,400 129,400 Residential and Commercial 2026 40%
AEREE ZEIR

The Group is currently working on several urban re-
development projects with over 80% ownerships secured.
Applications to the court are being made in respect of all
these projects for compulsory sale orders under the Land
(Compulsory Sale for Redevelopment) Ordinance (Chapter
545 of the Laws of Hong Kong). In the event that no court
order is granted, the Group may not be able to complete to
the consolidation of the ownership for re-development. Re-
development can only be implemented upon acquisition of
the full ownership of the relevant projects. The total
attributable gross floor area upon re-development is
approximately 334,000 square feet. All the development
projects are financed by both external banking facilities and
internal resources.
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Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

The Group is always exploring different channels to increase
its land banks. Apart from its engagement in public tenders,
the Group also actively worked on old building acquisitions,
to provide stable land resource for future development.

The Group has been minded to pursue a light asset
management model. The key features of this business model
are as follows: (i) instead of holding a majority stake in the
properties, and developing the same by its own, the Group
will develop suitable properties jointly with a joint venture and
will normally only hold 50% or a minority interest in the joint
venture; (i) operating profits generated will be recorded as
share of profits of joint ventures instead of revenue and direct
costs; (i) the Group will continue to act as the asset manager
to manage the development and sale of the properties and
other operations of the joint venture and hence will recognise
asset management fee income.

The Directors consider that the new business model would
enable the Group (i) to generate new income stream of asset
management fee income by utilising the Group's expertise in
asset management, (ii) to develop the properties by
leveraging on the expertise and resources of the joint venture
partners, and (iii) to diversify funding resources and reduce
funding pressure, and hence effectively reducing the Group's
gearing ratio.

Property Investment

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's portfolio of investment
properties comprised of commercial and industrial units
located in Hong Kong with a total carrying value of HK$135.1
million (31 March 2021: HK$571.2 million).

The Group's gross rental income under the property
investment segment during the financial year, inclusive from
the joint ventures, amounted to approximately HK$91.6 million
(2021: approximately HK$80.4 million), representing an
increase of approximately 13.9%. The increase in gross rental
income was primarily attributable to the new acquisition of
leasing properties and completion of rent-free period.
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In June 2021, the Group and three independent third parties
formed a new joint venture group (the “Parkville JV"), of
which the Group owns 64% of equity interest. The other three
partners are independent third parties to the Group and all
their ultimate beneficial owners are experienced investor,
namely Mr. Chiu Lon Ronald, Mr. Bryan Taft Southergill and
Mr. Choi, Raymond Yat-Hong. The Parkville JV acquired 11
shop units and certain lift, lift lobby(ies) and staircase(s) on the
ground floor and first floor of THE PARKVILLE, No.88 Tuen
Mun Heung Sze Wui Road, Tuen Mun, New Territories (the
“Parkville Property”) for a consideration of HK$300.0 million.
The Parkville Property has a total gross floor area of 13,858
square feet and is situated at Tuen Mun Heung Sze Hui Road
intersecting Luk Yuen Road. It enjoys excellent traffic access
from one of the busiest roads with well-developed
neighborhood. The only 3-minute walk from Tuen Mun MTR
Station, Tuen Mun Light Rail Station, Tuen Mun commercial
centre, transportation hub with cross border coach terminal
and the affiliated large scale shopping mall via footbridge
further brings vibrancy and creates a more dynamic prosperity
around the Parkville Property. The Parkville JV will further
refurbish the Parkville Property to optimise the tenant mix and
rental income and is expected to broaden its prospect and
thus, increase the future rental value, thereby enhancing the
future capital appreciation.

In September 2021, the Group partnered with an independent
third party, Jumbo Holding (BVI) L.P. (the “Jumbo Holding")
to form a joint venture (the "Jumbo JV"), in which the Group
owns 50% equity interest upon completion of share
subscription by Jumbo Holding, to acquire eight stories of
carpark podium of Jumbo Court, No.3 Welfare Road,
Aberdeen, Hong Kong (the “Jumbo Property”) for a
consideration of HK$410.3 million. Jumbo Holding is a limited
partnership established in the British Virgin Islands, with its
general partner, AGR X Asia Member GP, L.L.C, being
managed by Angelo, Gordon & Co, L.P. ("AG"), a well-known
U.S. licensed investment manager. The Jumbo Property
provides a total of 509 car parking spaces and is next to
various major residential buildings and private club and is
about a few minutes of walking distance from the Wong Chuk
Hang MTR Station. Given its proximity to major residential
developments and the MTR comprehensive development
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above the Wong Chuk Hang MTR Station which is scheduled
to provide approximately 3.9 million square feet of residential
gross floor area in 5,200 units and 510,000 square feet of retail
space, it is expected that the Jumbo Property could meet the
huge demand for parking spaces once the comprehensive
development is completed in phases. The Jumbo JV will
renovate the Jumbo Property to optimise the rental return
and enhance the capital appreciation.

The Group has also partnered with Kohlberg Kravis Roberts &
Co. L.P. ("KKR") to own two commercial accommodations,
known as “Lake Silver” located at No. 599 Sai Sha Road, Ma
On Shan, Sha Tin, New Territories, Hong Kong and “The
Parkside"” located at No.18 Tong Chun Street, Tseung Kwan O,
New Territories, Hong Kong. The Group has 50% equity
interest in each project. The Group has refurbished the
property, improved the tenant mix and enhanced the rental
yield. As at the date of this report, Lake Silver is fully let and
The Parkside gets an occupancy rate over 85%.

On 30 July 2021, the Group has entered into a provisional
agreement to sell the issued share and shareholder’s loan of
the holding company of the office on 30th Floor, United
Centre, No. 95 Queensway, Hong Kong, with a consideration
of HK$515 million. This transaction was completed on 25
October 2021. The Group considered that this disposal will
enable the reallocation of resources into future investment
opportunities and pursue other growth opportunities. For the
detailed information, please refer to the Company’s
announcement and circular dated 30 July 2021 and 23
September 2021, respectively.

Reference is also made to the prospectus of the Company
dated 30 March 2016, in which it stated that as at 21 March
2016, the parent company (Wang On Group Limited) (the
"WOG") and its subsidiaries (excluding the Group) owned a
total of 48 residential investment properties (the “Excluded
Properties”) which were not injected into the Group as part of
the spin-off listing of the Company in April 2016. The
Company has been informed by WOG that 39 out of these 48
Excluded Properties had been sold as of 27 June 2022.
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Asset Management

The Group has commenced the provision of asset
management services since 2019 and kept deploying
additional resources to strengthen the business. The board of
directors resolved to redesignate the provision of asset
management services as one the principal businesses and
reported as a new operating segment.

The Group has formed joint ventures with different strategic
partners in both residential developments and commercial
investments. By leveraging on its additional resources and
networks in Hong Kong market, and the Group's expertise in
construction management and asset management, the Group
also manages the assets on behalf of the capital partners of
these joint ventures.

As the asset manager of the invested assets, the Group earns
asset management fee income, including, asset management
fees, acquisition fees, renovation management fee,
construction management fees and leasing fees, as well as
promote fees upon reaching or exceeding certain target
internal rate of return and after the Group's joint venture
partners having received their targeted capital returns. These
asset management fee income provides a stable recurring
income to the Group and contributed approximately 79.2% of
the Group's revenue for the reporting year.

Other than managing two commercial accommodation
investments, namely Lake Silver and The Parkside, which were
co-invested with KKR in 2019, the Group has been engaged as
the asset manager of the new joint ventures during the year.
Those joint ventures are the Parkville JV and the Jumbo JV.
The details of the managed assets can be referred to the
section “Property Investment”.

The Group has also partnered with APG in December 2021 for
acquisition of residential properties in Hong Kong for
development and re-development for sales. As the asset
manager, the Group involves in the site evaluation, acquisition,
construction management and sales.
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The Group has various interests in joint ventures which are
principally engaged in property investment and property
development. To assess the recoverability of these
investments, the Group has engaged independent valuer to
assess fair value of the underlying assets.

With reference to the fair value, the directors determined that
the Group's interests in these joint ventures were fairly stated
and no impairment has to be considered.

During the year under review, the Group recorded asset
management fee incomes amounted to approximately
HK$30.8 million (2021: approximately HK$24.7 million) The
increase was mainly attributable to the new addition of assets
under management.

By utilising the Group's expertise in asset management, it
would seek to secure its asset management income and
explore strategic expansion opportunities for additional
recurring income.

LIQUIDITY AND FINANCIAL RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group's total assets less current
liabilities were approximately HK$7,829.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$7,994.6 million) and the current ratio was
approximately 2.0 times (2021: approximately 2.4 times). As at
31 March 2022, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$831.5 million (2021: approximately HK826.5
million).

Aggregate bank borrowings as at 31 March 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$4,359.2 million (2021: approximately
HK$4,696.9 million). The gearing ratio was approximately
68.2% (2021: approximately 77.1%), calculated by reference to
the Group's total bank borrowings net of cash and cash
equivalents and the equity attributable to owners of the
parent. As at 31 March 2022, the Group's property, plant and
equipment, investment properties, properties under
development and properties held for sales, with carrying
value of approximately HK$81.4 million, HK$82.5 million,
HK$4,829.7 million and HK$580.0 million (2021: approximately
HK$84.6 million, HK$571.2 million, HK$4,892.5 million and
HK$580.0 million) were pledged to secure the Group's general
banking facilities.
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The Group's capital commitment as at 31 March 2022
amounted to approximately HK$2,072.9 million (2021:
approximately HK$516.0 million). In addition, the Group's
share of joint ventures’ own capital commitments amounted
to approximately HK$43.3 million (2021: approximately
HK$145.0 million). The Group has given guarantee to banks in
connection with facilities granted to two joint ventures up to
HK$450.8 million (2021: nil) and were utilised to the extent of
HK$360.9 million as at 31 March 2022 (2021: nil). Save as
disclosed herein, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities as at 31 March 2022.

The Group strengthens and improves its risk control on a
continual basis and adopted a prudent approach in its
financial management. Financial resources are under close
monitoring to ensure the Group's smooth operation, as well as
flexibility to respond to market opportunities and
uncertainties. Management of the Group is of the opinion that
the Group's existing financial structure and resources are
healthy and sufficient for the Group's needs in the foreseeable
future.

DEBT PROFILE AND FINANCIAL PLANNING

As at 31 March 2022, interest-bearing debt profile of the
Group was analysed as follows:
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Bank loans repayable: ARATREREEEZRITER:
Within one year or on demand —FRFZEREER 1,929,380 1,953,857
In the second year £ -F 1,278,176 1,036,292

In the third to fifth years, inclusive HE=FZFHF

(BEEEWF) 1,151,668 1,706,787
4,359,224 4,696,936

Other loans repayable BARUTHREEEZ EMER:
In the second year £ _F 206,230 202,270
4,565,454 4,899,206
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The effective interest rate of bank loans was approximately
2.1% per annum (31 March 2021: approximately 1.8%) and
other loans carried at a fixed interest at 6.0% (31 March 2021:
6.0%) per annum.

TREASURY POLICY

The Group's treasury policy includes diversifying the funding
sources. Internally generated cash flow and interest-bearing
bank borrowings during the year are the general source of
funds to finance the operation of the Group. The Group
regularly reviews its major funding positions to ensure that it
has adequate financial resources in meeting its financial
obligations.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE

Management of the Group is of the opinion that the Group
has no material foreign exchange exposure. All bank
borrowings are denominated in Hong Kong dollars. The
revenue of the Group, being mostly denominated in Hong
Kong dollars, matches the currency requirements of the
Group's operating expenses. The Group therefore has not
engaged in any hedging activities during the period under

review.

SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS HELD, MATERIAL
ACQUISITIONS AND DISPOSALS OF
SUBSIDIARIES AND FUTURE PLANS FOR
MATERIAL INVESTMENTS OR CAPITAL ASSETS

Save as disclosed above, during the year, the Group did not
have any other significant investments held, material
acquisitions and disposals of subsidiaries and future plans for
material investments or capital assets.
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EMPLOYEES AND REMUNERATION POLICIES

As at 31 March 2022, the Group had 136 (2021: 136) employees
in Hong Kong. The Group remunerates its employees mainly
based on industry practices and individual performance and
experience. In addition to salaries, we provide discretionary
bonuses based on individual performance and our business
performance, medical insurance coverage and a wide range
of leave entitlements. The Group also provides a defined
contribution to the Mandatory Provident Fund (“MPF") as
required under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong) for our
eligible employees in Hong Kong.

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) for the purpose of providing incentives and
rewards to eligible participants who contribute to the success
of the Group. Share options may be granted to any director or
proposed director (whether executive or non-executive,
including independent non-executive director), employee or
proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time),
secondee, any holder of securities issued by any member of
the Group, any person or entity that provides research,
development or other technology support or advisory,
consultancy, professional or other services to any member of
the Group or any substantial shareholder or company
controlled by a substantial shareholder, or any company
controlled by one or more persons belonging to any of the
above classes of participants. The Share Option Scheme
became effective on 9 August 2016 and, unless otherwise
terminated earlier by shareholders in a general meeting, will
remain in force for a period of 10 years from that date.
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PROSPECTS

2021 was a challenging year due to the pandemic and volatile
political situation in Europe. Hong Kong real GDP contracted
by 4.0% in the first quarter of 2022 from a year earlier, and by
3.0% on a seasonally adjusted quarter-to-quarter basis. The
decline of GDP was mainly attributable to the weak
performance in both domestic and external demand under
the fifth-wave of the pandemic.

To stabilise the society and retain local consumption, the
Hong Kong government has launched several measures e.g.
consumption vouchers, employment support scheme, etc in
the first half of 2022. With the further relax of social distancing
measures, various sectors are bolstered.

For property markets, HKMC Insurance Limited raised the
maximum property value eligible for mortgage loans to 80%
loan-to-value ratio to HK$12 million (if the loan-to-value ratio
is progressively adjusted to 50%, the maximum eligible
property value is up to HK$19.2 million). It boosts both the
primary and secondary markets. It is expected that the
inflation pressure in Hong Kong is moderate and thus for the
increment pace of interest rate. With the positive progress in
border opening between Hong Kong and Mainland China, the
property market is expected to have steady and positive
development in 2022.

The Group launched the pre-sales of The Met. Azure in
August 2021. The performance was remarkable that all the
units released for sales on the first day were sold out on the
same date. The project achieved record-high selling price per
square feet in the district. The new development in Larch
Street, Tai Kok Tsui is expected to have the pre-sale in the
third quarter of 2022. The Hong Kong property market is
resilient, and the Group is cautiously optimistic on its
development.

The Group has invested in two new commercial projects
during the financial year namely the Parkville Property and
Jumbo Property. Both projects were joint ventured with
experienced investors and the Group has taken the role of
asset manager. The Group will continue to seek new
investment opportunities to broaden the recurring income
portfolio and capture the capital appreciation.
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The Group will also focus on the asset management segment
with the utilization of expertise in asset enhancements and
property developments. The Group will keep looking for
collaboration with strategic partners and strengthen the
investment and asset management segments.

It is expected that 2022 is still a challenging year. The Group
will monitor the changes, risks and assets closely, and
continue to capture every opportunity for its development
and aims to achieve solid returns to the shareholders of the
Company.

SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

Grounded on the three pillars of “Robust Governance”,
“Sustainable Places”, “Thriving People”, the Group has
committed to forward-looking actions that advance our
governance practices, design and operate sustainable places,
as well as working together to ensure our people and value
chain thrives. The Group also embarked on our 5-year ESG
Roadmap this year.

A formal ESG Committee to spearhead the implementation of
our 5-year ESG Roadmap was established during the year. The
Group also participates in the annual GRESB (Global Real
Estate Sustainability Benchmark) assessments, a widely
recognised international sustainability framework in the real
estate sector.

The Group has taken measures to promote environmental-
friendliness of its workplace by encouraging paper-recycling
culture and energy-saving culture within our Group. The
Group also participated in the BEAM Plus assessment
scheme, a comprehensive environmental assessment scheme
for buildings recognised by the Hong Kong Green Building
Council, for the development of our properties by engaging a
third-party consultancy company for the provision of services
in respect of BEAM Plus Certification and other environmental
assessments. The Group also includes green elements into
project planning and design and oversees the environmental
performances of contractors during the construction phase.

AEETHINRAEELZERMERETENE
EAB BINBEEE»H -ALEBEHES
SREBBRBEHEE NERREREEEED

% -

BT _FHARBUE - AKELZY)
BEsES L RRREE #ELE-E
RHEE NRKASRREFRRBRHOR -

ARFEER

AERRreERl [MHEEmM TARZEHR]
SRXHE NEEAGERNAEETE
BMMELRER RALZENHERM L
ARBHERARREERENEDER - A%
BRAFETERMATOAFNRE H8RER
B AR E o

FARMARLEANRE HEMERZE
g WEAMBTAFRE HEREARAKKE -
AEE TR 2 EGRESB (2 IR E A AR )
FENE  ZABAERZAANEERR
AREERIER -

AEBDRRER  RIESAERBRRR &
BASEETRKRBEREANREEL - NE
EMMERR T2RTRERFFEHGEE
meREBFeRAUNEFTE2EREN G-
YWERE=TEBAR  ZBHABRERT
2R EREMRRTERORY - NEEITFNIA
BEt@I RRETMAZEBITE XX EZHE
ERARBRRETEANRSR -



RRWMEARAR « —T-—F53%K 35

Management Discussion and Analysis (Continued)

Facing the continuous challenges brought by the COVID-19
pandemic, more stringent test and quarantine guidelines have
been implemented at our properties, office, and construction
sites to safeguard the health of customers, tenants, employees
and working partners. The Group has also provided rental
relief and other forms of support to its tenants whose

businesses have been affected.

The Group commits to innovating for a sustainable future.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ho Hong, aged 35, has been appointed as an
executive Director since 3 December 2015 and was appointed
as the chief executive officer and authorised representative
of the Company on 8 February 2021. He was also appointed
as the chairman of the executive committee and a member of
the remuneration committee and the nomination committee
of the Company. Mr. Tang is primarily responsible for the
overall management and supervision of operations of the
Group, including overseeing property sales and leasing, asset
management and investment, and strategic planning on long
and short term development. Mr. Tang has over eleven years
of experience in property and land matters. Prior to joining
the Company, Mr. Tang worked with WOG in January 2011
as assistant general manager where he focused on property
acquisition in Hong Kong and acquired his experience in
the property development, management and investment
businesses. Mr. Tang graduated from The University of
Washington with a degree of Bachelor of Arts in Business
Administration. Mr. Tang is a member of the Henan Provincial
Committee of The Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference. He is also a director of certain subsidiaries of
the Group and a son of Mr. Tang Ching Ho, the controlling
shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Ching Tak Won Teresa, aged 40, has been appointed
as an executive Director since 25 June 2019. She was also
appointed as a member of the executive committee of the
Company. Ms. Ching is currently the general manager of the
Group's property development division and is responsible
for the sales and marketing of the Group. She obtained a
degree of Bachelor of Business Administration in Marketing
and Management of Organisations from The Hong Kong
University of Science and Technology and a degree of Master
of Science in Real Estate from The University of Hong Kong.
She has more than 17 years of experience in the property
industry in Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group in 2016, Ms.
Ching joined WOG in 2008 and acted as the assistant general
manager (sales and marketing) of WOG. Ms. Ching is also a
director of certain subsidiaries of the Group.
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Ms. Wong Chin Han, aged 49, has been appointed as
an executive Director since 1 October 2019. She is also
appointed as an authorised representative and a member
of the executive committee of the Company. Ms. Wong is
currently the financial controller and the company secretary
of the Company. Ms. Wong has over 25 years of experience
in corporate finance, professional accounting, internal
control and/or company secretarial matters in Hong Kong.
She graduated from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology with a degree of Bachelor of Business
Administration. She is a member of the American Institute
of Certified Public Accountants. Prior to joining WOG in
2008, Ms. Wong worked for another listed company and an
international accountancy firm. Ms. Wong is also a director of
certain subsidiaries of the Group.

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Li Wing Sum Steven, aged 65, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 17 March 2016. He
is also appointed as the chairman of the audit committee and
a member of the remuneration and nomination committees
of the Company. Mr. Li was admitted as an associate of The
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants in April 1986
and subsequently a fellow member in April 1991. He was
also admitted as an associate of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants in May 1986 and subsequently
a fellow member in December 1993. Mr. Li has over 35 years
of experience in auditing, accounting, taxation, financial
management and corporate secretarial. Mr. Li worked for an
international accounting firm and held senior posts as group
financial controller in various companies. He is currently an
independent non-executive director of Allied Sustainability
and Environmental Consultants Group Limited and Amasse
Capital Holdings Limited, the shares of both of which
are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange. He was an
independent non-executive director of Xinjiang Xinxin Mining
Industry Co., Ltd., the shares of which are listed on the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange, for the period from October
2011 to May 2019.
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Mr. Sung Tze Wah, aged 76, has been appointed as an
independent non-executive Director since 17 March 2016. He
is a member of the audit committee and the remuneration
committee of the Company. Mr. Sung was appointed as the
chairman of the nomination committee of the Company
on 8 February 2021. He has extensive experience in the
surveying sector for over 35 years. Mr. Sung was elected as
a professional associate of the Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors in November 1972, a fellow of The Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors in March 1997, a member of The
Singapore Institute of Surveyors and Valuers in April 1989,
and was admitted as an associate of The Chartered Institute
of Arbitrators in April 1984. Mr. Sung was appointed as the
executive estates officer by the Housing & Development
Board of the Singapore government from October 1984 to
July 1990. He was then promoted to senior estates officer
during the period of August 1990 and March 1992. Mr. Sung
established LDS International Group Limited and Lawson
David & Sung Surveyors Limited in Hong Kong in 1992 and
1996 respectively and is currently a director of Lawson David
& Sung Surveyors Limited.

Sr Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung, aged 73, has been appointed
as an independent non-executive Director since 17 March
2016. He is the chairman of the remuneration committee and
a member of the audit and nomination committees of the
Company. He has over 45 years of experience in the property
and hotel industry through his prior employments with the
Lands Department of the Hong Kong government from
January 1977 to June 1978, and from the 1980’s onwards, with
various prominent property developers as well as a leading
surveyor company in Hong Kong. In 1994, Dr. Leung founded
TL Property Consultants International Limited and he is
currently the chairman of the TL Property Group companies.
Dr. Leung has been appointed as an independent non-
executive director of Chi Kan Holdings limited, a company
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, since July
2020.

REERE 75 BT R"F=ZA+t
FEEZTABUIFATESR - BA/ARQA
ERREERFMEEENE - REER T
- _ANBEBZEARARRREZEZEEGE
B-RRAEXRFEB=-TAFZLELR -
REER - NE-F+-AEERRBEERR
MAEMEBEsERXE8 RN-NAAEF=A
KRB EBNEMZEEREE R-NLNA\ILF
MAKSHTMBEHNEMEGEEMESEE I
B — U\ U S 70 A % 38 R) A% 35 B B P R 22
BB -REER-NNEOFETAZE-ANAE
FLAMRMERZEAFMEBRAEEZERD
ZITBEXERIE  RERR-AATFENRE
—NWN_E=AHHBRAESREXIME - K
FEHRBRDIR AN _FR-—NANAREFESR
AR AN BB R B A R AR N 2 AR ORIE AR
TERABARBNABEDANGMITERARZ
T

o

\

o

RERBLYPEM 7358 BT —R"F=F
TLRREEZERBIUNFATES - WAAR
AFMEZEeTRUANERZEGRREREER
ENE - RER-NtEtF-AE—NEtN\F
NAEBFEBRMMEE  BN\THFRE &
ERRZEMEYEZREB L —HEBERA
ERF RBLEBBEIHREEEREHE
RBETEREANTAFER - R - AW
FORETARERTEHEBRRBEREERA
Al MEBAMARERITREBRARZER - 18
TE_FT_TFLABREZERBMIMERL
AR EHERERAFNBILIFRITES -



ERWEBRAR « —=-—F5H 39

Board of Directors and Senior Management (Continued)

Dr. Leung acted as an independent non-executive director
of South China Holdings Company Limited, a company listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange, and South China
Assets Holdings Limited (formerly known as South China Land
Limited), a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange,
for the period from December 2012 to June 2017. Dr. Leung
obtained a degree of Doctor of Philosophy in Business
Administration from Empresarial University in November 2002
through distance learning, a degree of Master of Science
in International Real Estate (with Distinction) from The
Hong Kong Polytechnic University in November 2004, and
a degree of Bachelor of Social Science (Hons) in Economics
and Business Administration from Chung Chi College of
The Chinese University of Hong Kong in December 1976.
Dr. Leung was registered as a professional surveyor (GP/PD/
PFM) in Hong Kong respectively in January 2006 (GP) and
April 2014 (PD and PFM). He was also admitted as a fellow
member of The Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors in February
2012 and a fellow member of Hong Kong Institute of Real
Estate Administrators in November 1985. He is currently
the immediate past president of the Hong Kong Institute
of Surveyors, a member of Audit Committee of the Hong
Kong Housing Society, a member of Appeal Tribunal Panel
of HKSAR, a member of the Panel of Advisors on Building
Management Disputes of Home Affairs Department.
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Senior Management

Mr. Ip Shu Pui, is the legal counsel of the Group. Mr. Ip
obtained a Bachelor of Laws with Honours Degree from The
City University of Hong Kong. He has been qualified as a
solicitor in Hong Kong since December 1996. Mr. Ip worked in
WOG since 2005 prior to joining the Group in 2016.

Mr. Chan Cheong Shing, Bryan, is the director of the project
planning division of the Company. Mr. Chan is responsible
for managing the planning, design and works of property
developments projects of the Group. Mr. Chan obtained a
Degree of Bachelor of Arts (Architectural Studies) in 1993
and a Degree of Master of Architecture in 1996 respectively
from the University of Hong Kong. He is a registered architect
of Hong Kong, a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Architects, as well as an authorized person in Building
Department’s Register under the list of architects. He has
also obtained the qualification of People's Republic of China
Class | Registered Architect. Mr. Chan has more than 25 years
of experience in property development projects and he was
the director of an architect’s firm prior to joining the Group in
2016.

Mr. Wut Koon Wah, Edmund, joined the Group in August
2019 as the head of asset management. Mr. Wut is currently
oversees the leasing and management of Hong Kong
commercial properties of the Group. He obtained a Degree
of Bachelor of Business Administration, a Master of Science
Degree in Real Estate and a Degree of Master of Business
Administration. Mr. Wut is a professional member of Royal
Institution of Chartered Surveyors. He has over 22 years of
experience in property leasing.
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Ms. Wong Ka Yee, Karen, joined the Group in 2021 as
Assistant General Manager of Asset Management. She is
responsible for the operations of the Group's commercial
property portfolio, including leasing, marketing, property
management services and asset enhancement initiatives.
She has over 15 years of experience in real estate industry,
spanning across commercial leasing, property investment,
corporate finance and business process re-engineering. She
was educated at the University of Hong Kong, and holds a
Bachelor degree in Economics and Finance and a Master
of Science degree in Real Estate. She is also a professional
member of The Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors and
Chartered Financial Analyst.

Dr. Leu Ching Yin, Alison, joined the Group in October 2021
as general manager of quantity surveying division. Dr. Leu is
responsible for managing all aspects of cost and contracts
of property developments of the Group. She obtained a
Bachelor of Laws with Honours Degree, a Degree of Master
of Laws, a Degree of Master of Science in International Real
Estate and a Engineering Doctorate Degree. Dr. Leu is a
registered surveyor of Hong Kong, a member of the Hong
Kong Institute of Surveyors, a member of Royal Institution
of Chartered Surveyors, a member of Chartered Institute of
Building and also BEAM Professional. She has over 30 years
of experience in quantity surveying practices for property
development projects.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company recognises the importance of corporate
governance and is committed to achieving a high standard
of corporate governance within a sensible framework with a
strong emphasis on transparency, accountability, integrity
and independence. The Board believes that good corporate
governance practices are fundamental and essential to
the success of the Company and the enhancement of its
effectiveness and corporate image.

The Company adopted the principles and complied with the
code provisions of the “Corporate Governance Code” (the
“CG Code") set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules save
as below:

Mr. Chan Chun Hong resigned as the non-executive chairman
with effective from 8 February 2021. Since then, the Company
has been searching suitable candidate to fill the vacancy.
However, the search process has not been successful
especially during the COVID-19 pandemic and governmental
social gathering restrictions imposed from time to time. As
at the date of this report, no Chairman has been appointed
and the Company will continue to search the replacement and
will make announcement in accordance with the Listing Rules
as and when appropriate. During the year, the substantive
corporate governance functions of the chairman of the
board under the applicable provisions of the CG Code were
performed by the Company’s chief executive officer and
executive Director, Mr. Tang Ho Hong, a deviation from Code
C.2.1 of the CG Code.

CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY
DIRECTORS AND RELEVANT EMPLOYEES

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers, as amended
from time to time, (the “Model Code"”) set out in Appendix
10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding
securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have
confirmed, following a specific enquiry by the Company, that
they have complied with the required standards set out in the
Model Code throughout the year under review.
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The Company also adopted a code of conduct regarding
securities transactions on no less exacting terms than the
Model Code by the relevant employees of the Group who
are considered likely to be in possession of unpublished
price sensitive information in relation to the Company or its
securities pursuant to code provision A.6.4 of the CG Code.
To the best knowledge and belief of the Directors, all relevant
employees have complied with the required standards of such
code.

BUSINESS MODEL AND CORPORATE STRATEGY

The Group is principally engaged in the businesses of
developing residential and commercial properties for
sale, investing in commercial and industrial properties
for investment return and capital appreciation, and asset
management. The Group's strategy for generating and
preserving the shareholders’ value in the long run is to invest
prudently in projects and opportunities which maximise return
to the shareholders. With respect to property development,
the Group actively explores opportunities and increases its
land portfolio which forms the basis for generating gain in
the property development. To cope with the dynamic and
uncertain property market conditions, the Group mainly
focuses on projects with shorter development cycle in order
to provide greater turnover cycle, flexibility and reduction
of business risk. On the other hand, the Group continues
to maintain a balanced portfolio of property investments,
regularly review its tenant mix, with an aim to maximise rental
yield and secure a stable stream of income to support the
recurring operations of the Group. The Group also aims
to expand the asset management segment to increase fee
incomes and return. Overall, the Group adopts a proactive
and prudent approach in developing its business.

In short-term, the Group continuously reviews and updates its
strategies to provide better clarity on direction and business
models. The Group takes active and prompt measures
to meet market changes through adjustment of business
strategy and control over costs. Further, the Group strives to
maintain a healthy financing structure and devotes effort to
securing banking facilities which is regarded as an important
element for supporting continuous business development of
the Group.
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THE BOARD

Roles and Responsibilities of the Board and the Senior
Management

The Board is responsible for formulating of corporate
strategies and internal control, reviewing and guiding the
business and affairs, monitoring financial and operating
performance and is individually and collectively accountable
to the shareholders of the Company for the success and
sustainable development of the Group. The independent non-
executive Directors (the "INEDs") only account for various
industry expertise and overseeing the Group's business,
whilst the general management and day-to-day management
are delegated to the executive Directors and the senior
management of the Company, they will meet regularly to
review the performance of the Group and to co-ordinate
overall resources among the development of the Group.

Apart from these, the Board will consider and make decision
for any major acquisitions and disposals, review of interim and
annual financial results, appointments/removals of Directors
and auditor, evaluation on the performance and compensation
of senior management of the Company, any material capital
transactions and other significant operational and financial
affairs. With a review to maintaining an appropriate balance
of authority and responsibility, such functions are either
carried out directly by the Board or indirectly through various
committees established by the Board, with respective
functions set out in their terms of reference. Currently, there
are four board committees, namely executive committee
(the ” Executive Committee "), audit committee (the "Audit
Committee”), remuneration committee (the “Remuneration
Committee”) and nomination committee (the “Nomination
Committee”).

All Directors will ensure that they can give sufficient
attention to discharge their responsibilities to the affairs
of the Company and the Directors have disclosed to the
Company the identity and nature of offices held in any public
organisation and other significant commitments on an annual
basis.
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During the year, regular Board meeting were held four
times to review, consider and approve, among others, the
annual and interim results, the business operations and the
effectiveness of internal control systems of the Group. Apart
from these regular Board meetings, Board meetings are also
held, as and when necessary, to consider major issues. Notice
of at least 14 days for each regular Board meeting is given
to all Directors. All such minutes are kept by the company
secretary of the Company and are open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Apart
from the regular Board meetings, the Chief Executive Officer
of the Company also met with the INEDs without the presence
of executive Directors during the year.

Composition

The Board currently has six Directors comprising three
executive Directors and three INEDs. The Directors during the
year and up to the date of this annual report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ho Hong, Chief Executive Officer
Ms. Ching Tak Won Teresa

Ms. Wong Chin Han

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Wing Sum Steven

Mr. Sung Tze Wah

Sr Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung

There are no financial, business, family or other material
relationships among the Directors. The biographical details
of all Directors are set out on pages 36 to 39 of this annual
report.
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The Board possesses a mix and balance of skills and
experience which are benefit for the requirements of the
business of the Company. The opinion raised by the INEDs
in Board meetings may facilitate the maintenance of good
corporate governance practices. The Board has three
INEDs, representing more than one-third of the Board, and
at least one of the INEDs has the appropriate professional
qualification and/or accounting and audit experience and
expertise as required by Rules 3.10(1) and (2) and 3.10A of the
Listing Rules. A balanced composition of executive and non-
executive Directors also generates a strong independent
element on the Board, which allows for an independent and
objective decision making process for the best interests of
the Company and its shareholders. All Directors are aware of
the required levels of fiduciary duties, care, skill and diligence
under Rule 3.08 of the Listing Rules.

In compliance with code provision B.1.2 of the CG Code, an
updated list of the Directors identifying their role and function are
available on the websites of the Company (www.woproperties.com)

and the Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk). The Company will

review the composition of the Board from time to time to ensure
that the Board possesses the appropriate and necessary expertise,
skills and experience to meet the needs of the Group's business
and to enhance the shareholders' value.

Details of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended 31

March 2022 as set out in note 8 to the financial statements of
this annual report is also set out below:

Remuneration to the Directors

Below HK$500,000
HK$500,000 to HK$1,000,000
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000
Over HK$1,500,000
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

As at the date of this report, the Board is still identifying an
appropriate person to fill the vacancy as chairman of the
Board since the resignation of Mr. Chan Chun Hong on 8
February 2021 and the chief executive officer of the Company
is Mr. Tang Ho Hong.

The roles of the chairman and the chief executive officer
of the Company should be separate to reinforce their
respective independence and accountability. The respective
responsibilities of these two roles are clearly segregated. The
chairman of the Board, is primarily responsible for formulation
of overall strategic planning and leadership of the Board
and the chief executive officer, is responsible for the day-to-
day business operations and implementation of the business
strategies adopted by the Board.

Appointment and Re-election of the Directors

All INEDs are appointed for a term of not more than three
years with specific term set out under respective letters of
appointment which may be terminated by giving one-month
notice. The executive Directors are appointed for a term of
not more than three years with specific term set out under
respective service agreements which may be terminated
by giving six-month notice. One-third of the Directors,
including those appointed for a specific term, are subject to
retirement by rotation and, being eligible, offer themselves
for re-election at the annual general meetings in accordance
with the Bye-law 84(1) of the bye-laws of the Company (the
“Bye-laws”). In addition, Directors who are appointed by the
Board to fill casual vacancies or as an addition to the existing
Board are subject to re-election at the next following general
meeting of the Company after his/her appointment.
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Independence of INEDs

The INEDs are required to confirm their independence upon
their appointment and on an annual basis. The Company
has received from each INED an annual confirmation of his
independence pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules for the
year ended 31 March 2022. The INEDs would not participate
in the Group's daily operation and they would abstain from
voting on any resolution(s) in which he had any interest and,
therefore, the Company continues to consider all the INEDs to
be independent for the year under review and up to the date
of this annual report.

Corporate Governance

The Board has undertaken the responsibility for performing
the corporate governance duties pursuant to code provision
A.2.1 of the CG Code and is committed to ensuring that an
effective governance structure is in place to continuously
review, monitor and improve the corporate governance
practices within the Group with regard to the prevailing legal
and regulatory requirements.

The corporate governance duties performed by the Board are
to review the policies and measures on the Group's corporate
governance, to review a code of conduct applicable to the
Directors and employees of the Company, to monitor the
Company’'s legal and regulatory compliance, training and
continuing professional development of Directors and to
review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and the
disclosure in this annual report.

This corporate governance report has been reviewed by the
Board in discharge of its corporate governance function.
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Continuous Professional Development

Pursuant to code provision C.1.4 of the CG Code, all Directors
should participate in continuous professional development
to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. This is to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed
and relevant. The company secretary of the Company
regularly circulates training materials or briefings to all
Directors in respect of the updates on, among other things,
the Listing Rules, the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “SFO") or
guidelines, the Companies Ordinance (Chapter 622 of the
Laws of Hong Kong) and financial or accounting standards
which may be of the interest to the Directors.

In addition, the company secretary of the Company also
provides and circulates to the Directors with monthly and
regular updates relating to the Group’s business, financial
position and business environment, in which the Group
operates. During the year, all Directors have complied with
the code provisions in relation to continuous professional
development, including but not limited to reading materials
relevant to the Company’s business, director’s duties and
responsibilities.

The company secretary of the Company continuously updates
Directors constantly on the latest developments regarding
the Group's business and other applicable regulatory
requirements, to ensure compliance and enhance their
awareness of good corporate governance practices.

During the year, all Directors have provided their training
records to the Company on a regular basis, and such records
have been maintained by the company secretary of the
Company for accurate and comprehensive record keeping.

Liability Insurance for the Directors

The Company has arranged for appropriate directors and
officers liability insurance to indemnify its Directors against
liabilities arising out of legal action on corporate activities.
Such insurance coverage is reviewed and renewed with
consultant advice on an annual basis.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established various committees, including
the Executive Committee, Audit Committee, Remuneration
Committee and Nomination Committee, each of which has
the specific written terms of reference that will be reviewed
and updated, where necessary. Minutes of all meetings and
resolutions of the committees are kept by the company
secretary of the Company and open for inspection at any
reasonable time on reasonable notice by any Director. Each
committee is required to report to the Board on its decision
and recommendations, where appropriate.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee has been established since
March 2016 with specific written terms of reference with
authority delegated by the Board, which are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange. The
Executive Committee is responsible for general management,
supervising the day-to-day management, performance and
operations in accordance with the business strategy and
keeping under review strategy and business development
initiatives of the Group and monitoring their implementation.
Currently, the Executive Committee comprises three
members, namely Mr. Tang Ho Hong, Ms. Ching Tak Won
Teresa and Ms. Wong Chin Han. Mr. Tang Ho Hong is the
chairman of the Executive Committee.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee has been established since March
2016 with specific written terms of reference, stipulating its
authorities and duties in compliance with Rule 3.21 of the
Listing Rules, which are available on the websites of the
Company and the Stock Exchange. Currently, the Audit
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr. Li Wing Sum
Steven, Mr. Sung Tze Wah and Sr Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung
and Mr. Li Wing Sum Steven is the chairman of the Audit
Committee.
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The functions of the Audit Committee is, among others, to
assist the Board to review the financial reporting, including
interim and final results, to supervise over the Group's internal
controls, risk management and to monitor the internal and
external audit functions, the appointment, the re-appointment
and removal of external auditor and to make relevant
recommendations to the Board to ensure effective and
efficient operation and reliable reporting. The functions of
the Audit Committee will be reviewed regularly by the Board
and amended from time to time, as and when appropriate, in
order to be in compliance with the code provision of the CG
Code (as amended from time to time).

The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources
to discharge its duties and may access to independent
professional advice according to the Company's policy, if
considered necessary.

During the year under review, the Audit Committee members
met twice with the Group senior management and the
external auditor of the Company. During the year and up to
the date of this report, the Audit Committee met to discuss
and review the following matters:

(@) the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2021
and 2022, as well as the interim results for the six-month
ended 30 September 2021 to ensure for full, complete
and accurate disclosure in the aforesaid financial
statements pursuant to the accounting standards and
other legal requirement for presenting the same to the
Board for approval;

(b) the term and remuneration for the appointment of Ernst
& Young as external auditor to audit and report on the
consolidated financial statement of the Group for the
years ended 31 March 2021 and 2022 and performed
agreed upon procedures on the interim results for the
six-month ended 30 September 2021;

(c) the independence of the external auditor especially for
those non-audit services;
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(d) the continuing connected transaction(s) of the Group;

(e) the overall effectiveness of internal controls and risk
management systems; and

(f)  the adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience
of staff, the accounting and financial reporting matters
and their training programmes and budget.

The Audit Committee is satisfied with, inter alia, the audit
fees, effectiveness of the audit process, independence and
objectivity of Ernst & Young and has recommended to the
Board the re-appointment of Ernst & Young as the Company's
external auditor for the ensuing year at the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee has been established on 17
March 2016 with specific written terms of reference, as revised
from time to time, stipulating its authorities and duties in
compliance with code provision of E.1.2 of the CG Code,
which are available on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange. Currently, the Remuneration Committee
comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr. Li Wing Sum Steven,
Mr. Sung Tze Wah and Sr Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung, and one
executive Director, namely Mr. Tang Ho Hong. Sr Dr. Leung
Tony Ka Tung is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.
Majority of the Remuneration Committee are INEDs.

By reference to the corporate goals and objectives of
the Company, the primary roles and functions of the
Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(@) to make recommendations to the Board on the
Company's policy and structure for all Directors’
and senior management’s remuneration and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for
developing a remuneration policy on the basis of basic
salary and allowances, discretionary bonus and share
options;
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(b) to review and approve the senior management'’s
remuneration proposals with reference to the Board's
corporate goals and objectives;

(c) to make recommendations to the Board on the
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors
and senior management of the Company, including,
but not limited to, benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments for loss or termination of their
office or appointment;

(d) to make recommendations to the Board on the directors’
fee of the non-executive Director and INEDs with
reference to the range of remuneration of other non-
executive directors in the similar industry and allow any
out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with the
performance of their duties;

(e) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies,
time commitment and responsibilities and employment
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

(f)  to review and approve compensation payable to
executive Directors and senior management of
the Company for any loss or termination of office
or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with
contractual terms and is otherwise fair and not excessive;
and

(g) to review and approve compensation arrangements
relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for
misconduct to ensure that they consistent with
contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and
appropriate.

The Remuneration Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and may access to
independent professional advice according to the Company's
policy, if considered necessary.
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During the year under review, the Remuneration
Committee held one meeting, in which it reviewed the
existing remuneration policy by reference with the market
research, communicated with the chief executive officer
of the Company and recommended amendments to the
existing remuneration policy, if appropriate, performance-
based bonus and approved the remuneration package and
performance-based bonus paid to other Directors and senior
management of the Company. No Director took part in any
discussion or determination about his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee has discharged or will continue
to discharge its major roles to, among other things, approve
the terms of the service agreements of the Directors and the
senior management of the Company, make recommendations
with respect to the remuneration and policies of the Directors
and senior management of the Company and to review the
remuneration package and recommend salaries, bonuses,
including the incentive awards for Directors and senior
management of the Company.

Pursuant to the code provision E.1.5, the annual remuneration

of other members of the senior management by bands for the
year ended 31 March 2022 is set out below:

Remuneration to the senior

management by bands
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established on 17 March 2016
with specific written terms of reference, as revised from time
to time, stipulating its authorities and duties in compliance
with B.3.1 of the CG Code, which are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange. Currently, the
Nomination Committee comprises three INEDs, namely, Mr.
Sung Tze Wah, Mr. Li Wing Sum Steven and Sr Dr. Leung Tony
Ka Tung, and one executive Director, namely Mr. Tang Ho
Hong. Mr. Sung Tze Wah is the chairman of the Nomination
Committee.

By reference to the corporate goals and objectives of the
Company, the primary roles and functions of the Nomination
Committee are as follows:

(@) to review and evaluate the structure, size and
composition (including diversity, skills, knowledge
and experience) of the Board at least annually and
make recommendations to the Board on any proposed
changes to the Board to complement the Company's
corporate strategy;

(b) to identify individuals suitably qualified to become
Board members and select or make recommendations to
the Board on the selection of, individuals nominated for
directorships;

(c) to assess the independence of INEDs;

(d) to monitor the continuous professional development of
the Directors;

() to make recommendations to the Board on the
appointment or re-appointment of Directors and
succession planning for Directors, in particular the
chairman and the chief executive officer of the Company;
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(f)  where the Board proposes a resolution to elect an
individual as an INED at the general meeting, the
Nomination Committee should set out in the circular
to shareholders and/or explanatory statement
accompanying the notice of the relevant general
meeting:

—  the process used for identifying the individual why
the board believes the individual should be elected
and the reasons why it considers the individual to
be independent;

— if the proposed independent non-executive
Director will be holding their seventh (or more)
listed company directorship, why the board
believes the individual would still be able to devote
sufficient time to the Board;

—  the perspectives, skills and experience that the
individual can bring to the Board; and

—  how the individual contributes to diversity of the
Board.

(g) the chairman or another member of the Nomination
Committee shall attend the Company’s annual general
meetings and be prepared to respond to questions
raised by shareholders on the Nomination Committee’s
activities and responsibilities.

The Company has adopted a nomination policy (the
“Nomination Policy”) which sets out the selection criteria and
process and the Board succession planning considerations
in relation to nomination and appointment of Directors
and aims to ensure that the Board has a balance of skills,
experience and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the
Company and the continuity of the Board and appropriate
leadership at Board level. The Nomination Policy also sets
out the procedures for the selection and appointment of new
Directors and re-election of Directors at general meetings.
The selection criteria and nomination procedures set out in
the Nomination Policy as follows:
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Selection Criteria

in assessing the suitability of a proposed candidate,
the Nomination Committee will consider the factors
(as reference), including reputation, integrity,
accomplishment and relevant experience in relation
to the principal businesses of the Company from
time to time, commitment in respect of available
time and relevant interest, diversity in all its aspects,
including but not limited to gender, age (18 years
old or above), cultural and educational background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge
and length of service. These factors are for
reference only, and not meant to be exhaustive
and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the
discretion to nominate any person, as it considers
appropriate;

retiring Directors are eligible for nomination by
the Board to stand for re-election at a general
meeting. For those who have served as INEDs for
a period of nine consecutive years standing for re-
election, the Nomination Committee will consider
the independence of such Director for nomination
by the Board to stand for election at a general
meeting and state the reason in the circular to the
shareholders of the Company for the re-election;

candidate(s) will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information in a prescribed form, together
with their written consent to be appointed as
Director(s) and to the public disclosure of their
personal data on any documents or the relevant
websites for the purpose of or in relation to their
standing for election as Director(s); and

the Nomination Committee may request
candidate(s) to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary.
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2.

Nomination Procedures

the secretary of the Nomination Committee shall
call a meeting of the Nomination Committee,
and invite nominations of candidate(s) from
Board members if any, for consideration by the
Nomination Committee prior to its meeting. The
Nomination Committee may also put forward
candidate(s) who are not nominated by Board
members;

for filling a casual vacancy, the Nomination
Committee shall make recommendations for the
Board'’s consideration and approval. For proposing
candidate(s) to stand for election at a general
meeting, the Nomination Committee shall make
nominations to the Board for its consideration and
recommendation;

until the issue of the circular to be sent to the
shareholders of the Company, the nominated
persons shall not assume that they have been
proposed by the Board to stand for election at the
general meeting;

in order to provide information of the candidate(s)
nominated by the Board to stand for election
at a general meeting, and to invite nominations
from the shareholders of the Company, a circular
will be sent to the shareholders of the Company.
The circular will set out the lodgment period
for the shareholders of the Company to make
the nominations. The names, brief biographies
(including qualifications and relevant experience),
independence, proposed remuneration and any
other information, as required pursuant to the
applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the
proposed candidate(s) will be included in the
circular to the shareholders of the Company;
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—  the shareholder of the Company can serve a notice
to the company secretary of the Company within
the lodgment period of its intention to propose
a resolution to elect a certain person as Director,
without the Board’'s recommendation or the
Nomination Committee’s nomination, other than
those candidate(s) set out in the circular to be sent
to the shareholders of the Company. The particulars
of the candidate(s) so proposed will be sent to all
shareholders of the Company for information by a
supplementary circular;

—  a candidate is allowed to withdraw his candidature
at any time before the general meeting by serving
a notice in writing to the company secretary of the
Company;

- the Board shall have the final decision on all matters
relating to its recommendation of candidate(s) to
stand for election at any general meeting; and

- as there may be more candidate(s) than the
vacancies available, and the “gross-vote” method
will be used to determine who shall be elected
as Director, the resolutions proposed for the
candidate(s) by the shareholders of the Company
shall therefore take the same form as the resolutions
proposed for the candidate(s) recommended by
the Board.

The Nomination Committee is provided with sufficient
resources to discharge its duties and may access to
independent professional advice according to the Company's
policy, if considered necessary.
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During the year under review, the Nomination Committee
held one meeting to discuss and review, inter alia, the
following matters:

(@) the Nomination Policy;

(b) existing structure, size and composition (including
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board
appropriate for the requirements of the business of the
Group and to make recommendations on any proposal
changes, if any, to complement the Company’s corporate
strategy; and

(c) the Board diversity policy (the “Diversity Policy”).
Board Diversity

The Company recognises increasing diversity at the Board
level as an essential element in supporting the attainment
of its strategic objectives, sustainable and balanced
development. In March 2016, the Company adopted the
Diversity Policy stipulating the composition of the Board
which sets out the approach to diversify the Board.

In designing the Board’'s composition, the Board, considers
a number of aspects to achieve board diversity, including
but not limited to gender, age, cultural and education
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The Nomination Committee
will also consider factors based on the Company’s business
model, specific needs and meritocracy from time to time in
determining the optimum composition of the Board.
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As at the date of this annual report, the Board comprised
six Directors, including three executive Directors and three
INEDs, in which comprising four male Directors and two
female Directors, thereby promoting critical review and
control of the management process. The Board is also
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in
terms of professional experience, skills and knowledge.

Having reviewed the implementation and effectiveness of the
Diversity Policy and the Board's composition, the Nomination
Committee is satisfied that the requirements set out in the
Diversity Policy had been met.

ATTENDANCE OF DIRECTORS AT VARIOUS
MEETINGS

Details of the attendance of individual Directors at regular
Board meetings, committee meetings and shareholders’
meetings held during the year ended 31 March 2022 were as

follows:
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Special

Audit Remuneration Nomination Annual General General

Committee Committee Committee Meeting Meeting

Name of Directors ENERE FHZEES Re&Z8e RRAFAE RABHAE
Tang Ho Hong HE R 4/4 N/ALE 1/1 1 1" Al
Ching Tak Won Teresa BEE 4/4 N/AT i 5 N/AT i 5 N/AZ i B 1 0/
Wong Chin Han BB 4/4 N/AZ i 7 N/AZ i N/AZ i B 11 11
Li Wing Sum Steven Y& 4/4 22 17 1 1 0/
Sung Tze Wah REE 4/4 2/2 1/1 1 1 on
Leung Tony Ka Tung 2RIR 4/4 22 11 1 1 01
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EXTERNAL AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION SN B AT B =

The remuneration paid/payable to the Company’s external BEZEZZZ—F=A=+—HILFE  AQ7
auditor, Ernst & Young, for the year ended 31 March 2022 are B,/ J& - HNEE 4% B %2 ok & &1 Bl 56 75 A 2 A

set out as follows: SEHMTE :
Fees paid/
payable to
Ernst & Young
BN ER
RKEEHED
Services rendered for the Group m 2 & B RSz R% EXFZEA
HK$'000
FER
Audit services % 8 BR 5
— annual financial statements — FEHB®E 3,080
— other service — E b Bk 7% 4,555
Non-audit services: FERZBRTS
— agreed-upon procedures — WERF 435
— taxation and professional services — MBREERY 235
Total: ey 8,305
ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT BEREX

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparation ZEFHOESEERYT T BREERA TR
and publication of the timely financial statements which gives MAEBE M KA R 2 BHTEHRE - BARER
a true and fair view of the financial position of the Group B ERIIRIEEE Bk B A EARE -
and ensure that they are prepared in accordance with the HREHE_ZE-_—_F=-A=+—HILFEZE
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. B - EECDHEMNEAEEEXEER &K HEI B
In preparing the accounts for the year ended 31 March 2022, HRFMEBEZERSFTEHE L2V EAEEZ
the Directors have adopted suitable accounting policies which ~ #R R AT SR EH SR B 2 571 o

are pertinent to the Group's operations and relevant to the

financial statements and have presented an understandable

assessment of the Group's position and prospects.
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The Directors confirm that, to the best of their knowledge,
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries,
the accounts is prepared on a going concern basis and
they are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to
the events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company'’s ability to continue as a going concern. The
Directors continue to explore any opportunities with potential
investors to enhance its financial position and business
development of the Group by way of refinancing, extension of
borrowings and/or fund raising.

A statement by the independent auditor about their reporting
responsibilities is set out on pages 93 to 95 of this annual
report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The dividend policy adopted by the Company in November
2018 is intended to be prudent and sustainable, and will
be evaluated from time to time and there is no assurance
that dividends will be paid in any particular amount for any
particular period. Subject to compliance with applicable rules
and regulations, the Board may, at its discretion, determine
the declaration of payment of dividend(s) to its shareholders
in any amount, frequency in any financial year depending on,
among other things, the Company’s operation and financial
performance, liquidity condition, capital requirements, future
funding needs, contractual restrictions, availability of reserves
and prevailing economic climate.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board has undertaken the overall responsibility for
evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the
risks it is willing to take in achieving the Group's strategic
objectives and ensuring that the Group established and
maintained appropriate and effective risk management and
internal control systems during the year under review where,
pursuant to principle D.2 of the CG Code, such risks would
include, amongst others, material risks relating to ESG, whilst
the Audit Committee was overseeing and monitoring the
effectiveness of these systems. Management of the Group
was responsible for implementing and maintaining sound and
effective risk management and internal control system that
safeguard the Group's assets and stakeholders’ interest in
aspects including operation, financial and compliance.
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The Group has established risk management procedures
to address and handle all significant risks associate with the
business of the Group. The Board would perform annual
review on any significant change of the business environment
and establish procedures to response the risks result from
significant change of business environment.

Management of the Company would identify the risks
associate with the business of the Group by considering
both internal and external factors and events which include
political, economic, technology, environmental, social and
staff. Each of the risks has been assessed and prioritised
based on their relevant impact and occurrence opportunity.

The internal control systems are designed and implemented
to reduce the risks associated with the business accepted by
the Group and minimise the adverse impact results from the
risks. The risk management and internal control system are
designed to mitigate rather than eliminate the risk of failure to
achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss.

During the year under review, the Company appointed
external advisers to undertake the internal audit function and
perform the ongoing monitoring of the systems of internal
control of the Group and has reported their findings and
recommendations to the Audit Committee and followed up
the status of implementation of the recommendations to
ensure all significant control activities are properly in place
within the Group. The Group has adopted a risk-based
approach in developing the annual internal audit plan to cover
business activities with material risks across the Group. The
rotation basis would be applied to operations with similar risk
associated so as to enhance the efficiency and effectiveness
of the internal audit. All findings and recommendations
on internal control deficiencies for the year have been
communicated to management, who are required to establish
remedial plans to correct those internal control deficiencies
within a reasonable time period. Post-audit review is
performed to monitor those agreed recommendations having
been implemented as intended and on a timely basis. Based
on the audit and post-audit review, the advisers reported that
there was no significant deficiency on the internal control
system of the Group for the year had been noted.
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Review on Risk Management and Internal Control
System

The Company has conducted annual review on the
effectiveness and efficiency of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2022
and senior management confirmed that there is no significant
deficiency and weakness on the internal control system has
been identified by the external advisory firm for the year
ended 31 March 2022. The Board has reviewed with the Audit
Committee and satisfied and confirmed that the Group's
risk management and internal control systems in respect
of financial, operational, compliance, risk management and
adequacy of resources were effective and adequate.

The Company has conducted annual review on the
effectiveness and efficiency of the Group's risk management
and internal control systems for the year ended 31 March 2022
and management of the Company confirmed that there is no
significant deficiency and weakness on the internal control
system which has been identified by the external advisory firm
for the year ended 31 March 2022. The Board has reviewed
with the Audit Committee and satisfied and confirmed
that the Group's risk management and internal control
systems in respect of financial, operational, compliance, risk
management and adequacy of resources were effective and
adequate.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS AND
COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company aims at promoting and maintaining effective
communications with its shareholders and investors (both
individuals and institutions) to ensure that the Group's
information is disseminated to the stakeholders and investors
in a timely manner and enable them to have a clear assessment
of the enterprise performance. A shareholders communication
policy (the “Shareholders’ Communication Policy”) has been
adopted by the Company and the same is available on the
website of the Company (www.woproperties.com). Other
major means of communications includes:

Disclosures in Corporate Website

Extensive information on the Group's activities and financial
position will be disclosed in its annual reports, interim
reports, announcements, circulars and other corporate
communications which will be sent to the shareholders
of the Company and/or published on the websites of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.woproperties.com). Other inside information will be
released by way of formal public announcements as required
by the Listing Rules and Inside Information Provisions under
Part XIVA of the SFO.

General Meeting with Shareholders

The Company also acknowledges that annual general
meetings and various general meetings are valuable forums
for the Board to communicate directly with the shareholders
of the Company and members of the Board and the members
of various committees are encouraged to attend and answer
questions at such general meetings.
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In order to let shareholders of the Company to make an
informed decision at the general meetings, sufficient notices
with not less than ten (10) clear business days for every
general meeting and twenty (20) clear business days for every
annual general meeting were given to the shareholders of the
Company pursuant to the Bye-laws and any other applicable
laws. The chairman of general meetings will explain the
detailed procedures for conducting a poll vote during the
proceedings of meetings and answer all questions raised
by shareholders of the Company. All resolutions put to vote
at general meetings are taken by poll and the poll results
are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock
Exchange immediately following the holding of the general
meetings.

Investor Relations

The Group also has a proactive investor relations programme
that keeps investors and shareholders of the Company
abreast the Group's latest development and discloses relevant
information to the public in a timely manner. During the year,
we held various meetings with investors and participated in
investor and press conferences.

Shareholders’ Rights of Convening a Special General
Meeting

Pursuant to Bye-law 58 of the Bye-laws, shareholders of the
Company holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company
carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the
Company shall at all times have the right, by written requisition
to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to
require a special general meeting (the “SGM") to be called
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified
in such requisition; and the SGM shall be held within two (2)
months after the deposit of such requisition. If within twenty-
one (21) days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to
convene the SGM, the requisitionists themselves may do so
in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Act 1981
of Bermuda (as amended), but any meeting so convened shall
not be held after the expiration of three (3) months from the
said date.
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The requisition (i) must state the purpose of the SGM; and
(ii) must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at
the principal place of business of the Company at Suite 3201,
32/F., Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong (the “Principal Place of Business”) for
the attention of the company secretary of the Company. The
requisition will then be verified and upon its confirmation that
the requisition is proper and in order, the company secretary
of the Company will forward the requisition to the Board and
inform the Board to convene a SGM by serving sufficient
notice to all shareholders of the Company.

Putting Forward Proposals at Shareholders’ Meetings

To put forward proposals at an annual general meeting of
the Company or a SGM, the shareholders of the Company
shall submit a written notice of those proposals with the
detail contact information to the company secretary of the
Company at the Principal Place of Business. The request
will be verified and upon its confirmation that the request is
proper and in order, the company secretary of the Company
will ask the Board to include the resolution in the agenda for
the general meeting of the Company. Moreover, the notice
period to be given to all the shareholders of the Company for
consideration of the proposals submitted by the shareholders
of the Company concerned varies as follows pursuant to Bye-
law 59(1) of the Bye-laws:

(@) for an annual general meeting of the Company and any
SGM at which the passing of a special resolution is to be
considered, it shall be called by not less than twenty-one
(21) clear days' notice (the notice period must include
twenty (20) clear business days under the Listing Rules’
requirement); and

(b) for all other general meetings of the Company (including
a SGM), they may be called by not less than fourteen (14)
clear days’ notice (the notice period must include ten (10)
clear business days under the Listing Rules’ requirement).

During the year under review, review of the
implementation and effectiveness of the Shareholders'
Communication Policy was conducted by the Company
to concerning inquiries from shareholders of the
Company.
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Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for proposing candidate(s) for election as
director(s) at a general meeting of the Company are set out
in the “Corporate Governance” under section headed under
“About Wang On Properties” on the website of the Group at
www.woproperties.com.

Enquiries to the Board

Shareholders and stakeholders of the Company may send
their enquiries and concerns, in written form, to the Board
or the company secretary of the Company by email to
pr@woproperties.com or by addressing their enquiries to

the Board or the company secretary of the Company in the
following manners:

In respect of the corporate affairs:
Corporate Affairs & Investor Relations
Wang On Properties Limited

Suite 3201, 32/F., Skyline Tower

39 Wang Kwong Road

Kowloon Bay

Kowloon

Hong Kong

In respect of the other shareholding/entitlement affairs:
Tricor Investor Services Limited

Level 54, Hopewell Centre

183 Queen's Road East

Hong Kong

WHISTLEBLOWING POLICY

The Company has adopted a whistleblowing policy to facilitate
the achieving of high possible standards of openness, probity
and accountability. Procedures are formulated to enable
individual employees to disclose internally and at a high
level, information which the individual believes that it shows
malpractice or impropriety within the Group. During the year
under review, no incident of fraud or misconduct was reported
from employees that have material effect on the Group's
financial statements and overall operations.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Wong Chin Han, is an employee of the Group who was
appointed as a full-time employee company secretary of the
Group, reports directly to the Board and is responsible for,
inter alia, providing updated and timely information to all
Directors from time to time.

During the year ended 31 March 2022, Ms. Wong has
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules.

CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group acknowledges its corporate social responsibility to
share some burden in building the society where its business
has been established and thrived. During the year, the Group
has participated different charity activities, e.g. visiting low
income family and health care products to elderly, etc.. The
Group will keep the passion on the contribution of resources
and caring to the society.

The Group is conscious of its role as a socially responsible
group of companies. It has made donations for community
wellbeing from time to time, supports the communities and
encourages its employees to participate in any charitable
events and caring services. For more details, please refer to
the Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the "ESG
Report”) of the Company.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENT

During the year ended 31 March 2022 and up to the date of
this annual report, there was no change in the constitutional
document.

The Memorandum of Association and Bye-laws of the
Company are available on the websites of the Stock
Exchange and the Company at (www.hkexnews.hk) and

(www.woproperties.com), respectively.

CONCLUSION

Going forward, the Group will continue to review its corporate
governance practices regularly to maintain high level of
transparency, to enhance the Company’s competitiveness
and operating efficiency and to ensure its sustainable
development and to generate greater returns for its
stakeholders.
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The Directors present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The principal activities of the principal subsidiaries of
the Company comprise property development, asset
management and property investment in Hong Kong, details
of which are set out in note 1 to the financial statements
of this annual report. Save as the new business of asset
management, as disclosed in the section of Management
Discussion and Analysis of this annual report, there were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal
activities during the year.

RESULTS AND DIVIDEND

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2022
and the Group's financial position at that date are set out in
the consolidated financial statements on pages 96 to 249 of
this annual report.

The Group's revenue and profit attributable to owners of
the parent for the year ended 31 March 2022 amounted to
approximately HK$38.9 million (2021: approximately HK$339.5
million (restated)) and approximately HK$285.1 million (2021:
approximately HK$466.7 million), respectively.

The Board has recommended the payment of a final
dividend of HKO0.75 cent (2021: a final dividend of HK0.74
cent) per ordinary share for the year ended 31 March 2022
to its shareholders whose names appear on the register of
members of the Company as of Friday, 2 September 2022.
The final dividend will be paid on or around Wednesday, 14
September 2022, subject to shareholders’ approval at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to be
held on Friday, 26 August 2022.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the published results and assets, liabilities and
non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five financial
years, as extracted from the audited financial statements, is
set out on page 252 of this annual report. This summary does
not form part of the audited financial statements.

BRWERRAT « —2——F5%x /]

Report of the Directors
EEE®RE

EFEENR2ZEFTERERBE_FT-__F=
A=t —RLFEZASELEZMBHRE

FEXK

ARBIZEBXHR/REER - ARA X EN
BRAAZIEXKBEERBBZVEER &
EEELMERE  HBERAFERZMBR
K- RAFRERBA MR AN — A
BENEETEHNEHI FAAKEZETE
EBUHEEYEERNE -

XBERRE

AEERBE_T-_—_F=ZA=+—HLFE
CEBERAEBERZAZHBRRAERAF
WEQE2498 2 iAW BWEK -

AEBRBE_T-__F=ZA=1+—HL*F
BEZWARSRARHEAE ARG G D5
38,900,000/ 7t (=& = — 4 : £339,500,000/%
7T (& 3)) & #9285,100,0007 T (ZF = — £ -
#1466,700,0007% 7T) °

ErepmEnEE_T-_—_FhLA-B(EHRH)
BUARNBBRREM e BEEREE_ST ==
FZA=+—"BLFEZARBREEREAR
075 (ZF=—F : REIR B0.74% L) - K
HEEHER-ZZE-_—FNLATHA(EH =)k
AR WASRRERARGRZ=ZZTZ==
NAZHAB(EBR)BOTZEERRAFAK
eLEMERFTAIEE -

TFEMBHRE

AEEBERNBAVRFEZENHEZEREE
BEMEERER ZMBENAFHRE252R -
EHMERBZELERVBERER  ETBEREE
ZHBRRZ D -



72 Wang On Properties Limited * Annual Report 2022

Report of the Directors (Continued)
EEERE(E)

BUSINESS REVIEW AND ANALYSIS OF KEY
FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE INDICATORS

The business review and the key financial performance
indicators to the businesses of the Group, including, among
other things, the information set out below, are disclosed in
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 18 to 35 of
this annual report.

(@) afair review of the Group's business;
(b) principal risk factors;
(c) an analysis using key financial performance indicators;

(d) key relationships with its employees, suppliers,
contractors and customers; and

(e) future development in the Group's business.

The corporate social responsibility, environmental policies
and performance of the Group were disclosed in the
Management Discussion and Analysis section and the
Corporate Governance Report of this annual report. More
details were disclosed in the Group's standalone ESG Report
published in June 2022 on the websites of the Stock Exchange
and the Company.

As far as the Board is concerned, the Group has complied in
material aspects with the relevant laws and regulations that
have a significant impact on the business and operation of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2022.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital and
share options during the year, together with the reasons
therefore, are set out in notes 32 and 33 to the financial
statements of this annual report, respectively.
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Bye-
laws or the laws of Bermuda, being the jurisdiction in which
the Company was incorporated, which would oblige the
Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to existing
shareholders of the Company.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities
during the year ended 31 March 2022.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Bye-laws, every Director and other officers
shall be entitled to be indemnified and secured harmless out
of the assets and profits of the Company from and against all
actions, losses or liabilities which they may incur or sustain by
or by reason of any act done about the execution of the duties
of their respective office or otherwise in relation thereto. The
Company has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’
liability insurance coverage for the Directors and other officers
of the Group for the year.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2022, the Company's reserves available for
distribution to equity holders of the parent, calculated
in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda
(as amended), amounted to approximately HK$2,746.9
million (2021: approximately HK$2,875.5 million), of which
approximately HK$114.0 million has been proposed as a final
dividend for the year ended 31 March 2022.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31 March 2022, sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for approximately 80.9% (2021:
approximately 31.2%) of the total revenue and the sales to the
single largest customer accounted to approximately 35.5%
(2021: approximately 8.5%). Acquisition cost of land/properties
and cost of services certified by authorised person of the
Group's five largest suppliers accounted for approximately
36.5% (2021: approximately 39.6%) of the total acquisition cost
of land/properties and cost of services certified by authorised
person of and the single largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 23.1% (2021: approximately 21.8%)
of the total purchases for the year.

None of the Directors or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the Directors,
own more than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued
shares) had any beneficial interest in the Group's five largest
customers or five largest suppliers.

DIRECTORS

The Directors of the Company during the year were:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tang Ho Hong, Chief Executive Officer
Ms. Ching Tak Won Teresa

Ms. Wong Chin Han

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Li Wing Sum Steven

Mr. Sung Tze Wah

Sr Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung

FTEFEFRHEER

HE-_T-—"F=ZA=+—-HIFE KA&EH
ARBEPZHERIEBWALNLIN (ZE=—
FRN2%) EFE-—HRAEPZHEERELN
H355% (ZZE = —F: 485%) - XR&EEH A K
HEEEN T MERERARARERITA
TREFZRBEAAE - HRIME Lt % UK BB K
ARERAAANLREZ R KA 485 4936.5%
T —F4939.6%) HehE -5 KHE
BEFRAREABROBI% (T _—F: 4
21.8%) °

BREE REZEMBBEALARESARAE
BEBEITRMAES%IA £ 2 RRFMERIRR -
BERAEERAREPRXAAREETHAE

B 3 3

=
RER  KRRAREER:

BITES

WREEL  TTHAH
BEBAXL
mHBLLT

BYFHTES
FOKFRELE
REFERE
RERELBED



RRWERRAR « —T-—F5% /5

Report of the Directors (Continued)

In accordance with Bye-law 84(1) of the Bye-laws, Ms. Ching
Tak Won Teresa and Mr. Leung Tony Ka Tung will retire
and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
as an executive Director and an INED, respectively, at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

The Company has received written annual confirmations of
independence from Mr. Li Wing Sum Steven, Mr. Sung Tze
Wah and Sr Dr. Leung Tony Ka Tung, being all INEDs, pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
BIOGRAPHIES

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior
management of the Group are set out on pages 36 to 41 of
this annual report.

UPDATE ON DIRECTORS’' INFORMATION

(1) Mr. Li Wing Sum Steven was appointed as independent
non-executive director of Amasse Capital Holdings
Limited which is listed on the GEM of the Stock
Exchange with effective on 1 July 2021.

(2)  Subsequent to the Financial Year, Mr. Li Wing Sum
Steven was resigned as company secretary of Shanghai
Fudan Microelectronics Group Company Limited which
is listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange with
effective from 1 May 2022.

(3) Changes in Directors’ remuneration, where appropriate,
were disclosed in note 8 to the financial statements of
this annual report.

During the financial year ended, save as disclosed above,
there is no other change in information of the Directors since
the publication of the 2021 interim report which is required to
be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries
which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation (other than statutory

compensation).

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in notes 8 and 39 to the financial statements
in this annual report, no Directors nor a connected entity of a
Director had a material interest, either directly or indirectly, in
any transactions, arrangements or contract of significance to
the business of the Group to which the Company, the holding
company of the Company or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries was a party during the year.

DIRECTORS' INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

None of the Directors nor their respective associates had an
interest in a business, apart from the businesses of the Group,
which competes or is likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly, with the businesses of the Group pursuant to Rule
8.10 of the Listing Rules during the year.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

OF THE COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED
CORPORATIONS

As at 31 March 2022, none of the Directors and chief executive
of the Company and/or any of their respective associates had
any interests and short positions in the shares, underlying
shares or debentures of the Company or any of its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO), as
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Part XV of
the SFO or the Model Code under the Listing Rules.
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DIRECTORS' RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares or underlying shares
in, or debentures of the Company granted to any Director
or their respective spouses or minor children, or were any
such rights exercised by them, or was the Company or any
of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the
Directors to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company adopted a share option scheme (the “Share
Option Scheme”) with the approval of the shareholders
of the Company at the annual general meeting held on 9
August 2016 for the primary purpose of providing incentives
or rewards for the eligible persons for their contribution or
potential contribution to the development and the growth of
the Group. The Share Option Scheme became effective on 9
August 2016 and, unless otherwise terminated earlier by the
shareholders in a general meeting, will remain in full force for
a period of 10 years from that date.

Under the Share Option Scheme, share options may be
granted to any Director or proposed Director (whether
executive or non-executive, including INEDs), employee
or proposed employee (whether full-time or part-time),
secondee, any holder of securities issued by any member of
the Group or holding company or any substantial shareholder
or any company controlled by a substantial shareholder, any
person or entity that provides research, development or
other technological support or any advisory, consultancy,
professional or other services to any member of the Group
or any substantial shareholder or company controlled by a
substantial shareholder, or any company controlled by one
or more persons belonging to any of the above classes of
participants.

The Board may grant share options to eligible participants to
subscribe for shares of the Company for a consideration of
HK$1.00 for each lot of share options granted which must be
accepted within 30 days from the offer date. Share options
do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or to vote at
shareholders’ meetings of the Company.
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The maximum number of share options that may be granted
under the Share Option Scheme is the number, upon their
exercise, not in aggregate exceeding 30% of the issued
share capital of the Company from time to time, excluding
any shares issued on the exercise of share options. The total
number of shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
options to be granted under the Share Option Scheme and
any other schemes shall not in aggregate exceed 10% of the
number of shares in issue, as at the date of approval of the
Share Option Scheme.

The maximum number of shares issuable under share
options to each eligible participant (except for a substantial
shareholder or an INED or any of their respective associates)
under the Share Option Scheme within any 12-month period is
limited to 1% of the number of shares of the Company in issue
at any time. Any further grant of share options in excess of
such limit must be separately approved by shareholders with
such eligible participant and his/her associates abstaining
from voting. Share options granted to a Director, chief
executive or substantial shareholder of the Company (or any
of their respective associates) must be approved by the INEDs
(excluding any INED who is the grantee of the options). Where
any grant of share options to a substantial shareholder or an
INED (or any of their respective associates) will result in the
total number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise
of the Share Options already granted and to be granted to
such person under the Share Option Scheme and any other
share option schemes of the Company (including options
exercised, cancelled and outstanding) in any 12-month
period up to and including the date of grant representing
in aggregate over 0.1% of the shares in issue, and having an
aggregate value, based on the closing price of the Company’s
shares at each date of grant, in excess of HK$5 million, such
further grant of share options is required to be approved
by shareholders in a general meeting of the Company in
accordance with the Listing Rules. Any change in the terms
of a share option granted to a substantial shareholder or an
INED (or any of their respective associates) is also required to
be approved by the shareholders of the Company.
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The exercise price must be at least the higher of (i) the official
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the
daily quotation sheets of the Stock Exchange on the offer date
which must be a business day; (ii) the average closing prices
of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the
date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a share of the
Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the total number of
shares available for issue under the Share Option Scheme is
1,520,000,000 shares, representing 10.0% of the share capital
of the Company in issue at the date of this annual report.

During the year, no share options were granted, exercised,
lapsed, cancelled or outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme.

Further details of the Share Option Scheme are set out in note
33 to the financial statements of this annual report.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS' AND OTHER FERRRHEMATRERORERRK
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS f#ZzEZRKXRE
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2022, to the best knowledge of the Directors, WZZTZZF=A=+—H BiESZFFA -
the register of substantial shareholders maintained by the AR AR & & & & B & {5 5] 55 XV 30 5533615 #2
Company pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the SFO TEHEEZEXZREELMET  THREEHM
showed that the following shareholders, had notified the & &2 kB2 AT & R A A B B 5 & A8 B B 19
Company and the Stock Exchange of relevant interests and H B 2 HBEESE R AR

short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the

Company:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: RARREBR A

Percentage of

the Company's

Number of total issued

Name of shareholder Capacity shares share capital

EERAR 2

ERTRA

BRREB/HE 514 ZEDH

(Note 3)

(Mt &E3)

%

WOG 0] Interest of controlled corporation 11,400,000,000 75.0
B REHIRE R

Mr. Tang Ching Ho (2) Other interest 11,400,000,000 75.0

BENEAE H ity #E 2
Ms. Yau Yuk Yin 2) Other interest 11,400,000,000 75.0
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Notes:

)

WOG held the entire issued share capital of Wang On
Enterprises (BVI) Limited (“WOE") which in turn held the
entire issued share capital of Earnest Spot Limited (“Earnest
Spot”). Earnest Spot directly held 11,400,000,000 shares of the
Company. Under the SFO, each of WOE and WOG was deemed
to be interested in all the aforesaid shares held by Earnest Spot

for the sole purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

Under the SFO, Mr. Tang Ching Ho was deemed to be
interested in approximately 48.69% of the total issued share
capital of WOG through (i) his personal interest; (i) his spouse’s
interest in WOG,; (iii) his corporate interest via Caister Limited
and Billion Trader Limited, corporations controlled by him;
and (iv) his interest being a founder of a discretionary trust,
namely Tang's Family Trust. Ms. Yau Yuk Yin, spouse of Mr. Tang
Ching Ho, was also deemed to be interested in approximately
48.69% of the total issued share capital of WOG through (i) her
personal interest; (ii) Mr. Tang Ching Ho's interest in WOG; and
(i) being a beneficiary of Tang's Family Trust. Therefore, each
of Mr. Tang Ching Ho and Ms. Yau Yuk Yin were deemed to be
interested in all 11,400,000,000 shares of the Company held by
WOG for the sole purpose of Part XV of the SFO.

The relevant percentages were disclosed pursuant to the
percentages as disclosed in the relevant disclosure forms filed
under the SFO.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2022, there were

no persons, other than Directors or chief executive of the

Company who had an interest or short positions in the shares

or underlying shares of the Company which would fall to be

disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions
2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under Section
336 of the SFO.
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CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
AND CONNECTED TRANSACTION

During the year under review and up to the date of this annual

report, the Group entered into the following transactions

as described below with persons who are regarded as

“connected persons” pursuant to Chapter 14A of the Listing

Rules:

Continuing Connected Transactions

(a)

The Company, through its indirect wholly owned
subsidiary, namely Wise Ocean International Limited
(as the landlord), entered into a tenancy agreement
(the “Tenancy Agreement”) with Mr. Tang Ho Hong, an
executive Director (as the tenant) in respect of the lease
of a premise located at Greenland Villas, 8/12 Ma Yeung
Path, Shatin, New Territories, Hong Kong (the “Premise”)
for a term of three years commenced from 1 April 2019
and expired on 31 March 2022 (both dates inclusive)
at a monthly rental of HK$80,000, which constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2022 and subsequent
to the Financial Year, the landlord renewed the Tenancy
Agreement in respect of the lease of the Premise for
a term of three years commenced from 1 April 2022
and expiring on 31 March 2025 (both dates inclusive)
at a monthly rental of HK$83,000, which constituted
continuing connected transactions for the Company
which are exempt from disclosure, annual review and
shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule
14A.76 of the Listing Rules.
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On 2 May 2019, Vincent Investments Limited (as the
landlord), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company, entered into a tenancy agreement with Wai
Yuen Tong (Retail) Limited (“WYT Retail”) (as the tenant),
an indirect subsidiary of Wai Yuen Tong Medicine
Holdings Limited (“WYT"), in respect of the lease of a
retail shop located at Ground Floor of Ladder Dundas,
Nos. 575 and 575A Nathan Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong
for a term of three years commencing from 1 May 2019
and expiring on 30 April 2022 (both dates inclusive) at
a monthly rental of HK$380,000 (exclusive of rates and
management charge to be paid in advance without any
deduction or set-off whatsoever on the first day of each
calendar month). For details of this transaction are set
out in the announcement jointly issued by the Company
and WYT dated 2 May 2019.

The INEDs have reviewed the continuing connected

transactions set out above, where appropriate, and have

confirmed that these continuing connected transactions were

entered into:

(iii)

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the
Group;

in accordance with the terms of the respective
agreements governing them on terms that were fair and
reasonable and in the interests of the Company and its
shareholders as a whole;

on normal commercial terms or on terms no less
favourable to the Group than terms available to or from

independent third parties; and

has not exceeded the specified caps.
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Ernst & Young, the Company's external auditor, was engaged
to report on the Group's continuing connected transactions
in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audlits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information and
with reference to Practice Note 740 (Revised) Auditor’s Letter
on Continuing Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong
Listing Rules issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. Ernst & Young have issued an unqualified
letter containing their findings and conclusions in respect of
the above continuing connected transactions disclosed above
by the Group in accordance with Rule 14A.56 of the Listing
Rules. A copy of the auditor’s letter has been provided by the
Company to the Stock Exchange.

Connected Transaction

On 17 July 2019, Daywin Limited, as the licensor, entered
into a sub-licensing agreement with Wang On Properties
Services Limited, as the licensee, in respect of the renewal
of the sub-licensing of the office premises to the Group for a
term of further three years commencing from 18 July 2019 and
expiring on 17 July 2022 (both dates inclusive) at a monthly
license fee of HK$425,745, exclusive all rates, Government
rent, management fee, air-conditioning charge and other
outgoings, payable monthly in advance. For details of this
transaction are set out in the announcement jointly issued by
the Company and WYT dated 17 July 2019.

Save as disclosed above, details of related party transactions
undertaken by the Group in the ordinary course of business
during the year, which fell under Rule 14A.73 of the Listing
Rules, are set out in note 39 to the financial statements of this
annual report.

The Company has complied with the requirements in
accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules and save
as disclosed above, there were no other transactions which
need to be disclosed as continuing connected transactions in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other
donations totaling approximately HK$9.3 million (2021:
approximately HK$2.2 million).
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EMOLUMENT POLICY

The Group's emolument policy for its employees is set up and
approved by the Remuneration Committee and the Board on
the basis of their merit, qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the
Remuneration Committee and the Board, as authorised by the
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company,
having regarded to the Group's operating results, individual
performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has adopted a Share Option Scheme as an
incentive to Directors and eligible employees, details of the
Share Option Scheme are set out in note 33 to the financial
statements of this annual report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard
of corporate governance practices. Details of the corporate
governance practices adopted by the Company are set out in
the Corporate Governance Report on pages 42 to 70 of this
annual report.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Company has
maintained a sufficient prescribed amount of public float as
required under the Listing Rules up to the date of this annual
report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company established the Audit Committee with specific
written terms of reference in compliance with Rule 3.21 of
the Listing Rules on 17 March 2016. During the year, the
Audit Committee met twice with senior management and
the external auditor of the Company to review and consider,
among other things, the accounting principles and practices
adopted by the Group, the financial report matters (including
the review of the audited consolidated financial statement for
the year ended 31 March 2021 and the consolidated interim
results for the period of six-month ended 30 September
2021), the statutory compliance, internal controls, continuing
connected transaction(s) and the adequacy of resources,
qualifications and experience of staff of the Company’s
accounting and financial reporting function as well as their
training programmes and budget.
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The Audit Committee, comprising three INEDs, namely Mr. Li
Wing Sum Steven, Mr. Sung Tze Wah and Sr Dr. Leung Tony
Ka Tung, has reviewed the consolidated financial statements
for the year ended 31 March 2022 with management and the
external auditor of the Company. Mr. Li Wing Sum Steven was
elected as the chairman of the Audit Committee.

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

Except for disclosed in elsewhere, there is no significant event
of the Group after the reporting period.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2022 have been audited by Ernst & Young, Certified
Public Accountants, who will retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. A resolution for the re-
appointment of Ernst & Young as external auditor of the
Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Tang Ho Hong
Executive Director and Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 27 June 2022
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Independent Auditor’s Report

e
EY:

To the shareholders of Wang On Properties Limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)
OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Wang On Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its
subsidiaries (the "Group”) set out on pages 96 to 249, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 31 March 2022, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to
the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position
of the Group as at 31 March 2022, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") and have
been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
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BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements section of our report. We are
independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's
Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the "Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in
accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence
we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming
our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our
description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided
in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these
matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of
procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the
risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements. The results of our audit procedures, including
the procedures performed to address the matters below,
provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying
consolidated financial statements.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
BEREFETER

B % AT R E ()

BHRETSEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMzENNEERARETSR

Net realisable value of properties under development and properties held for sale

BREFTYRRSIFHEYFEZ TE# T FE

The Group's properties under development and
properties held for sale are stated at the lower
of cost and net realisable value. As at 31 March
2022, the carrying amounts of these properties
under development and properties held for sale
were HK$4,938,579,000 and HK$605,436,000,
respectively, which in aggregate represented
approximately 52% of the total assets of the Group.
EEBERDPYELBIFLEY ERKANEARER
FEMERIREREIR RTE__F=A=+—
B EWEZBKREED R /4,938,579,000% 7T &
605,436,000 7T " 1h ESEBEEELS2% -

During the year, no further write-down or reversal
was recognised in profit or loss against these
properties.

FA - BEAZFVEFEBRSERE - SHORHED -

The Group engaged external valuer to perform the
valuations of the properties under development
and properties held for sale as at 31 March 2022.
This is identified as a key audit matter because
significant estimation is required to determine
the net realisable value of the properties under
development and properties held for sale, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

EEEZEIBEHEEMBE _ZE_Z_F=ZA=1+—A80HK
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The accounting policies and disclosures in
relation to the properties under development
and properties held for sale are included in notes
2.4, 3, 16 and 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.
ERZERTYELRFELEDEN ST EER MK EH
REEHBRERMT24 -3 ~16K17 °

Our audit procedures to assess the net
realisable value of properties under
development and properties held for sale
included the following:
BAFGERTYERSELED R ZATERFEE
MEAREFBEATER:

e obtaining and reviewing the valuation

reports prepared by the external valuer
engaged by the Group;

BMEREN BEEEMZRINDEEMERNM
B#RE:

e assessing the external valuer’s qualification,

experience and expertise and considering its
competence, objectivity and independence;
and

FEINBILER ER  KREBXENE T E
BAONEDIEERTEAE ) -  REEEB Y R

* involving our internal valuation specialists

to assist us in the assessment of the
valuation methodologies applied and the key
parameters adopted in the valuations, on a
sampling basis.
HAMEEZE R HMMEFEEEMER
WEEREARAMERANEER2H -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) BRESSE®E)
Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key audit matter
HRETER BEMzERANAEERRET SR

Impairment assessment of interests in joint ventures

R & &1 3 59 & 25 19 6l 18 7T 1%

The Group has various interests in joint ventures
which are principally engaged in property
investment and property development in Hong
Kong. The Group's interests in joint ventures are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial
position at the Group’s share of net assets
under the equity method of accounting, less
any impairment losses. As at 31 March 2022, the
aggregate carrying amount of the Group's interests
in joint ventures was HK$2,684,573,000, which
represented approximately 25% of the total assets
of the Group.
EEEEFEZNEAENENERERMERRNEGE
¥BERE#R - ERERGECENER DR
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The impairment assessment has been identified
as a key audit matter due to the materiality of the
carrying values of the interests in joint ventures
and the significant judgements and estimations
involved in impairment assessment of interests in
joint ventures.
WMENFERENSEAREAFTEARARNALEREN
BamEEEEANRREGECENE RN ER
B K B KA K fE e

Our audit procedures to assess the impairment
assessment of interests in joint ventures
included the following:
BAFERaEEENERNERENHNETIEF
BEATRERF:

e obtaining and reviewing the valuation

reports prepared by the external valuer
engaged by the Group on which the Group's
assessment of the impairment of interests in
joint ventures was based,;

RIShER E£EERG20ENERNRERT
mATkER ESEZRENINBMEERMA RN
HERS

assessing the external valuer's qualification,
experience and expertise and considering
the external valuer’s competence, objectivity
and independence; and
AAEINEEEMNER SR RFEMHE  ALE
BONEREERIEAE S BREMEBIM: R

involving our internal valuation specialists
to assist us to assess the valuation
methodologies applied and the key
parameters adopted in the valuations, on a
sampling basis.
HAREEZE R R MMEFHEERER
MEEFTEARAEBNEESE -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

Key audit matter
HERESEE

BYZRBERE (E

BHRETSEE)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

EMzEUMNEERRETSER

Impairment assessment of interests in joint ventures (Continued|)

RE& &1 3 59 & 25 19 6l 18 7 1 ()

For those joint ventures engaged in property
investment, the Group determines the recoverable
amount with reference to the fair value less costs
of disposal of these joint ventures which are
dependent on the fair value of the investment
properties held by respective joint ventures.

RREVERENZSEELENS EXEZ2EZ
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on

For those joint ventures engaged in property
development, the Group determines the
recoverable amount with reference to the fair value
less costs of disposal of these joint ventures which
are dependent on the expected market prices of
the properties under development and properties
held for sale held by respective joint ventures.
RREVEERNZSEALELEMS Y EEEZ2EXZ
EELPENATERLIEXNAMETATKRD & -
Mt IR FHEBEEECERENERPYERFHIEL
EVMENTEHTEME -

Based on the results of impairment tests, no
impairment loss on interests in joint ventures was
considered necessary for the year ended 31 March
2022.

BEAEARNER BE-_T-__F=H=+—H01F
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The accounting policies and disclosures in relation
to the interests in joint ventures are included in
notes 2.4, 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial
statements.
EEARALERNERN ST RREREANGESY
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OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN THE
ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does
not cover the other information and we do not express any
form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial
statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give
a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the
directors of the Company are responsible for assessing the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as
applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless the directors of the
Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit
Committee in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing
the Group's financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud
or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as a body, in
accordance with section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person
for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not
a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated
financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

e Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement
of the consolidated financial statements, whether due
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures
responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis
for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the
override of internal control.

¢ Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant
to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Group's internal control.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

BYRBERE (E

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by the directors.

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of
the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the
audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty
exists related to events or conditions that may cast
significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention
in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as
a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding
the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible
for the direction, supervision and performance of the
group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.
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Independent Auditor’s Report (Continued)

AUDITOR'’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS (Continued)

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence and to communicate with them
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be
thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable,
actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance
in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a
matter should not be communicated in our report because
the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Mr. CHUNG, Ho Ling.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
27/F, One Taikoo Place

979 King's Road

Quarry Bay, Hong Kong

27 June 2022
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

REeREkEMCEERESR

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z-_—_F#=ZA=+—HLLFE

Notes

B 5

REVENUE WA 5
Cost of sales Fi=R=D N
Gross profit EH
Other income and gains, net Haplg A R %5 558 5
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHMAX
Administrative expenses B X
Other expenses H A 5l 2 6
Reversal of impairment losses/ TREEREESE 6
(impairment losses) on financial BB, CREERE)
assets
Finance costs A& KA 7
Fair value gains/(losses) on KEMENTFERZS 14
investment properties, net S (Bi18) 38
Fair value losses on financial assets BRAFEGFAERZ
and liabilities at fair value through TMEERBEZ
profit or loss, net NEEEEFR
Write-down of properties held FEH & % 2 MUR 17
for sale
Share of profits and losses of Eha s kx5
joint ventures N iE
PROFIT BEFORE TAX RR B A0 E
Income tax credit/(expenses) FTEBiEe, (Fx) 10
PROFIT FOR THE YEAR REEEF
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hith2HEER
Other comprehensive income/(loss) REZBABAEET S
that may be reclassified to profitor fEZ#Em 2 EM2@E
loss in subsequent periods: Wz, (E18)
Debt investments at fair value EAFEFAEM
through other comprehensive rHEHKEZER
income: ’RE:
Changes in fair value NFEEH
Reclassification adjustments for FFAER BB
losses/(gains) included in profit SRRz EH
or loss palk Rk
— loss/(gain) on disposal/ -HEEREZ
redemption, net BiE S (Was)
R
— impairment losses/(reversal of - BERE 19
impairment losses), net OB 1B B &
@) FRR

Net other comprehensive loss that
may be reclassified to profit or loss
in subsequent periods

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR

RE R B AT B E T
BERamcHMME®R

&5 18 % 8

rEEZHMEZEEE
0 BR B A

REERHWSEBHE

2022 2021
TS & —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TH T
(Restated)

(E3l)

38,857 339,514
(23,319) (161,969)
15,538 177,545
125,405 104,334
(25,621) (64,228)
(114,714) (92,828)
(37,903) —
(637) 6,171
(71,210) (77,473)
3,749 (64,447)
(47,486) (17,902)
— (80,000)
430,630 585,783
277,751 476,961
7,161 (8,784)
284,912 468,177
(60,840) 3,007
(4,509)
(6,051)
(22,852) (7,553)
(22,852) (7,553)
262,060 460,624
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income (Continued)

REeREkEMEEKER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE_Z-_—_F=ZA=+—HLLFE

2022 2021
TS & —E-—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M o F# T F& T
(Restated)
(E2lf)
Profit attributable to: FE {55 7
Owners of the parent [SS/NEIE TN 285,079 466,745
Non-controlling interests FE 15 AR %= ) 1,432
468,177
Total comprehensive income FEAE 2 W &5 485
attributable to:
Owners of the parent NEEA A 262,227 459,192
Non-controlling interests FE 15 AR = ) 1,432

262,060 460,624

EARNINGS PER SHARE BAREEESEEEA
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY EEERER
EQUITY HOLDERS OF
THE PARENT
Basic and diluted AR S 12 LERERCSEN HK3.07 cents Bl
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
e BN E

31 March 2022
—E--_F=A=+—8H

2022 2021
—E-= —E—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M = FET T T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS ERBEE
Property, plant and equipment mE - WEKIRKHB 13 101,842 102,484
Investment properties REWE 14 135,100 571,200
Properties under development BRAPYE 16 1,752,244 1,594,960
Interests in joint ventures REELENER 18 2,684,573 2,207,545
Loan and interest receivables B E R & F B 22 11,177 24,531
Deposits and other receivables e M H A FE Y F I8 23 141,501 285,367
Debt investments at fair value EAFEFAEMER 19
through other comprehensive WaHZEBHRE
income 56,318 108,898
Financial assets at fair value through EZAFEABH 2 S 20
profit or loss mEE 48,794 42,565
Deferred tax assets REHIEE E 31 8,788 —
Total non-current assets WIEREBEE 4,937,550
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Properties under development BERERPYE 16 3,186,335 3,326,177
Properties held for sale BHIEHEME 17 605,436 605,436
Trade receivables JE W BR 3k 21 10,086 —
Loan and interest receivables EUEZ LT E 22 15,320 31,940
Prepayments, other receivables and  F&fI 7 E + Hfh fE U 3% 23
other assets BREMEE 364,361 250,108
Cost of obtaining contracts BREHZKA 24 10,073 1,241
Tax recoverable a] U 8] & T8 3,613 4,400
Debt investments at fair value EAFEFAEMEZER 19
through other comprehensive W2 BEBIRE
income 89,426 207,070
Financial assets at fair value through & AFEFAEBZZE 20
profit or loss BEE 55,385 12,648
Cash and cash equivalents BHekiRE&FERIEAAR 25 831,460 826,503

5,171,495 5,265,523
Assets of a disposal company —HMHEERRINEE 26 493,814 —

Total current assets BREE E 5,665,309 5,265,523

CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE

Trade payables JE 1+ BR 3R 27 20,181 29,278

Other payables and accruals H h JE A 5K IR N At 28
Z A 95,200 91,998

Financial liabilities at fair value EAFEFABRZZ 20
through profit or loss E@maE — 5,356
Contract liabilities EHaE 29 507,743 1,510

Interest-bearing bank and other AERTREMEE 30
borrowings 1,929,380 1,953,857
Tax payable JE 15 B 18 1,527 126,509
2,554,031 2,208,508
Liabilities of a disposal company —BHERFNN AR 26 221,673 —

Total current liabilities BREEE 2,775,704 2,208,508
NET CURRENT ASSETS REBEEEE 2,889,605 3,057,015

TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT REERRBDAEMR
LIABILITIES 7,829,942

7,994,565
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (Continued)

e MR AR R R ()

31 March 2022

—E - —_F=A=+—H

2022 2021
—E-= —E—F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
M = FET T T
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT HWEERRBAER
LIABILITIES 7,829,942 7,994,565
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES kRBERE
Other payables H & 1< 5/ 1B 28 1,480
Financial liabilities at fair value ERAFEFABRZZ 20
through profit or loss TRBE 12,874
Interest-bearing bank and other AERITREMEE 30
borrowings 2,636,074 2,945,349
Deferred tax liabilities EEMIBERE 31 482 566
Total non-current liabilities wIEREEE 2,646,066 2,960,269
Net assets BEFE 5,183,876 5,034,296
EQUITY EE
Equity attributable to owners of BAREEARBGES
the parent
Issued capital BE 1T A 32 15,200 15,200
Reserves 15 34 5,157,564 5,007,817
5,172,764 5,023,017
Non-controlling interests FERER 11,112 11,279
Total equity W R 5,183,876 5,034,296

Tang Ho Hong
HEE
Director

BFE

Wong Chin Han
BRI
Director

EF




100 Wang On Properties Limited * Annual Report 2022

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2022

HE-_Z-_—_F=-A=+—HILFE

Attributable to owners of the parent

BAAEEARL
Share Fair value Non-
lssued  premium Contributed  Capital ~ Merger  reserve  Retained controlling Total
capital ~account  surplus  reserve reserve (recycling)  profits Total interests equity
LEERE
BRARA ROHEER EHER EAEE  AHRE (THE)  REER At FERER EREE
Note HKBO00  HKS000  HKS000  HK$000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS'000  HK§000
[iR: Thr  TEr TEr  TEn  TRr  TEn  TEr  TEm TEr  TER
(note 34())  (note 34(i)) (note 34(ii)
(Rsa)  (hsE3u) (R 3ddi)
At 1 Apri 2020 HZEZEERE-H 15200 316,809 1,063,914 (310) ) 4618 2783025 4,673,260 2647 4715912
Profi for the year FEREA - - - - - - 66745 466745 1430 468,177
Other comprehensive incomefloss) ~ AEEEf2EUE/
for the year (B#):
Debt investments at fair value BATEAANEE
through other comprehensive KEERRE:
income:
Changes in far valug, ATEED:
net of tax [ - - - - - 3,007 - 3,007 - 3007
Reclassification adjustments TABEMEL
for gaing included in profit BHAERE
or loss
- gain on disposal - ks - - - - - (4,509) - (4,509) - (4509)
- reversal of impaiment -REFEED
Iosses, net it - - - - - (6,061) - (6,051) - (6,051)
Total comprehensive income TERRENREE
for the year = B - - - (71953) 466,746 459,192 1430 460,624
2020 final dvidend declared BERREA_Z_3F
and paid RBRE = = - - - - (109,440 (109,440) - (109,440)
Dividend paid to anon-controling B % ERERES
shareholder - - - - - - - - (3208000 (32800
At 31 March 2021 and 1 April 2021~ R-F—E=f=1-A
RZE-%#mA-A 15200 316,889 1,563,914 (3105 My R 31403300 5023017 11219 5,084,296
Proft/oss) for the year KEREA /(58 - - - - - - 801 28019 (167 284912
Other comprehensive incomefloss) ~ ZEEEf2ENE/
for the year: (F8):
Debt investments at fair value BATETAARE
through other comprehensive K ERRE
income:
Changes in fair value, net of ATEES
fax Bt = = = = - [60,840) - (60,840) - (60,640)
Reclassification adjustments TABREEL
for losses included in prof ERbE LS
or loss
- loss on disposal -1E/B0E
redemption, net B3R - - - - - -7 -y
- impairment losses, net -REBEER - - - - - 8 - 8% - 8%
Total comprehensive income TEERENELE
for the year - - - - - (2285 285079 262,001 (167) 262,060
2021 final dvidend declared BERREN-3=-F
and eld x8%e 1 = - - . - ~ (2480 (112480 - ()
At 31 March 2022 RZZ- 2§24
=t-A 16200 316,889 1,663914° (3107 My 25787 3312929 5,172,764 11112 5183876
& These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBROEEAUBMRARAZEERAE

HK$5,157,564,000 (2021: HK$5,007,817,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

5,157,564,0007% 7T (Z 2 ——% : 5,007,817,000/8 7T) °



CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax
Adjustments for:
Finance costs
Interest income from bank deposits
Interest income from loan receivables
Interest income from debt investments at
fair value through other comprehensive
income
Interest income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Dividend income from financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries, net
Loss/(gain) on disposal of debts
investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income
Share of profits and losses of
joint ventures
Fair value losses/(gains) on investment
properties, net
Fair value losses on financial assets and
liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, net
Impairment losses/(reversal of impairment
losses) on financial assets
Depreciation of owned assets
Depreciation of right-of-use assets
Accrued rent-free rental income
Write-down of properties held for sale

Decrease in properties held for sale

Increase in properties under development

Increase in prepayments, other receivables
and other assets

Increase in trade receivables

Decrease/(increase) in cost of obtaining
contracts

Decrease/(increase) in loan and interest
receivables

Decrease in trade payables

Increase/(decrease) in contract liabilities

Increase in other payables and accruals

Cash used in operations
Profits tax paid
Interest paid related to lease liabilities

Net cash flows used in operating activities
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

mEREMRER

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE_Z-_—_F=ZA=+—HLLFE
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[SaNGA NS RN

14

2022
—E-_ &
HK$'000
THER

277,751

71,210
(354)
(1,612)

(29,631)
(4,299)
(25,705)
(36,404)
37,903
(430,630)
(3,749)

47,486
637
8,943
10,361

(78,093)
(3,013,328)

(490,694)
(10,086)

(8,832)
27,843
(6,286)
506,233

164,534

(2,908,709)
(125,906)
(270)

(3,034,885)

476,961
77,473

(2,478)
(4,595)

(34,747)

(30,688)

(5,088)
(585,783)
64,441

17,902

(6,171)
9,758
7,958

(1,530)

80,000

63,413
156,921
(1,399,531)

(30,181)

119
(14,268)
(4,155)
(19,445)

21,339

(1,225,788)
(173,197)
(322)

(1,399,307)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (Continued)

HRERTRER(E)

Year ended 31 March 2022
HE-_Z-_—_F#=ZA=+—HLLFE

2022
—E-_ &
HK$'000
THER

(3,034,885)

30,018

25,705
(95,471)

(1,370)
(71,364)

186,965
(139,704)
38,910
1,449,178
110,77_1

1,918,191
(801,851)

1,240
768,596

3,419,814

(115,474)
(6,870)
(2,888,313)
2,741,274
3,960
(112,480)

(377,903)

7,026
826,503

833,529

Notes
Pt &E
Net cash flows used in operating activities ReXBRARENEFH
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING RERETHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest received 2 A8
Dividend income from financial assets at far EAFEFABZZEMEE 5
value through profit or loss 2 Bx B A
Additions to investment properties RERENE 14
Purchases of items of property, EADE BERHZHEER 13
plant and equipment \
Purchase of debt investments at fair value BARRTEGAEMEE
through other comprehensive income W zEHERE
Proceeds from disposals of debt investments &R AT EFAELMEE
at fair value through other comprehensive a2 BB REMGHIEA
income
Purchases of financial assets at fair value BARLATEFABRZZ
through profit or loss TREE \
Proceeds from disposals/redemption of HE/BORATEFARR
finzlancial assets at fair value through profit ZERMEEMBTIA
or loss
Proceeds from disposal of subsidiaries HEME DR 2 MERE 35
Investments in joint ventures REGERE
Return of capital from joint ventures RELERERA
Repayments of loans from joint ventures RELEEREN
Cashadvanced to joint ventures BNTREtEZRS
Repayments of loans from joint venture RELEBHEREN
artner
Di\F/)idend received from joint ventures EREELEZRE
Net cash flows from investing activities REERDMERENEFH
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING REMETHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
Interest paid BT B
Principal portion of lease payments HERNRZAE B
Repayment of bank borrowings BERTER
New bank borrowings L RT 15 X
New other borrowings 748 A 5 R
Dividend paid Rk E
Dividend paid to non-controlling ENEERBRRRE
shareholders
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing REERMG/(FRRS
activities mEFE
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) INCASHAND BReRBRSZERER 2 #M/
CASH EQUIVALENTS (BD) #8
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning FNHREREEERER
of year
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END FRESRELERAEA
OF YEAR
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND ReRALERABEZEH
CASH EQUIVALENTS #

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position
Add: Cash and bank balances of a disposal
company

Cash and cash equivalents as stated in the
consolidated statement of cash flows

i)
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(1,399,307)

31,830

(42,011)
(389)
(112,689)

126,609
(38,852)

91,683
(112,604)
870,190
41,565
(547,873)

24,100

331,559

(171,750
(4,787)
(262,631)
1,618,740
3,300
(109,440

(32,800)
1,040,632

(27,116)
853,619

826,503

831,460
2,069

833,529

826,503

826,503
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Notes to Financial Statements

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Wang On Properties Limited is a limited liability
company incorporated in Bermuda. The registered office
of the Company is located at Clarendon House, 2 Church
Street, Hamilton HM11, Bermuda. The principal place of
business of the Company is located at Suite 3201, 32/F,
Skyline Tower, 39 Wang Kwong Road, Kowloon Bay,
Kowloon, Hong Kong.

During the year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as the “Group”) were principally
engaged in the property development, property
investment and asset management businesses.

The provision of asset management services has been
one of the businesses of the Group for years. During the
year, the board of directors of the Company resolved
that additional resources would continuously be
deployed to such business and accordingly, the provision
of asset management services is redesignated by the
board of directors as one of the principal businesses
of the Group. Other than this change, there were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group's principal
businesses.

In the opinion of the Company'’s directors, Earnest Spot
Limited (“Earnest Spot”), a company incorporated in the
British Virgin Islands ("BVI"), is the immediate holding
company of the Company, and Wang On Group Limited
("WOG"), a company incorporated in Bermuda and
listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong (the “Stock Exchange”), is the ultimate holding
company of the Company.

1.

B 75 SRR MY RE

31 March 2022
—E - —_F=A=+—H

RAREEEHR

ERMEBR AR AETEE FZE T MK
NZBRAR c RAR ZEM B EREM
M Clarendon House, 2 Church Street,
Hamilton HM11, Bermuda * "2 & 2 F*
DEEWHBMUNRBEBENENEER LS
395 R B 532183201 %F -

FA - ARFEREMBAR (GHE[REE])
TEREVERR MEREREEE
B -

REEEEERGZEFRBERAKHE
Hp—HEX® - FR AAREFSH’
HEBHZEHAEBRNER  BHit
EEe K RHEEEEERBENEER
AEENEREH2— B —2F5)
AEBNTIEXBUHESBRSEREH -

KNAEEER A Earnest Spot Limited
([Earnest Spot))(— & 7 & & # & = &
S(XBRERBREBDAMK L ZAR)
RARNTRZBEEZERAT - f1Wang On
Group Limited (R Z&BEBR AR ERZ )
(—HEAREREFMHA LT RE BB ER
SHIBXADER EMZAT)AAR

GIPA-3:3 4 ¥
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. RAIREEER(®)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries EEMBARZER

RRAREEWMBRB ZFBWOT:

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows:
Place of Percentage of
incorporation and Issued ordinary equity attributable  Principal
Name business share capital to the Company activities
1 AR REREH BRTEBRAE TRRERRERAL IEXRE
Direct  Indirect
EE E:3
City Concord Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100  Property investment
EAERAF BR EERIET NERE
East Run Investments Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 Investment holding
ABARRES LTRRIET REZR
Ever World Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100  Property development
KERRAT R EERIET NEER
Grandwall Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 60  Property development
BRREARAR BB EERI00% T NEER
Hony Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Provision of asset
management services
AERAA &b ERRIER RUEEEEERY
Miracle Cheer Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 100 - Investment holding
RE4BARER EBRIET RERKR
More Action Investments Limited BV Ordinary US$1 - 100 Investment holding
REABARER EBRIET RERKR
New Grand Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Property development
LHERRA &b ERRIEL NEEE
New Merit Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Property development
BRARAE &b ERRIER NEER
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1.
(Continued)

RAREBER (#)

FENBLR2ERE)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of Percentage of

incorporation and Issued ordinary equity attributable  Principal
Name business share capital to the Company activities
£ AL RE XY BRTEERAE AARAEEEEAIL TEXH

Direct Indirect
EE E:
New Rich Investments Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$100 - 60 Property development
EBREBRAA EE EERI00% T NEERE
Newex Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100  Property development
NERRRAE EE LERIEL NEERE
Nice Treasure Ltd Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Property investment
MBERAT EE LERIEL NERE
Rich United Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 70 Property development
REFRAF EE LERIEL NEER
Sky Earth Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Provision of financial
services

BREAERLA R EARIET Rt R k%
Sparkle Hope Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 Investment holding

ABARRES LTRRIET REZR
Star Bonus Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100  Property development
ESERAHA R EARIET NEER
Star Union Ltd Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100  Property investment
MERERAE BB EARIET NERE
Swift Prosper Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100 Investment holding
AEFRAA ABARRES EERIET REER
Success Vision Ltd Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100  Property investment
HEARAF BB LTRRIET NERE
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1. XAREEER#)

(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) EREMBARZER (&)
Place of Percentage of
incorporation and Issued ordinary equity attributable  Principal
Name business share capital to the Company activities
£ AL RE £ Y BRTEERAE AARAEGEEAIL TEXH
Direct  Indirect
E E:
Top Harmony Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100  Property development
RERRRA EE LERIEL NEERE
Top Strong Investment Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100  Securities investment
EEREARAH EE LERIEL BErRE
Top Supreme Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100  Property development
RHBERAA N LERIEL NEERE
True Promise Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100  Property development
("True Promise”)
HRERRE* () BB EERIET NEER
Twist Pioneer Limited BVI Ordinary US$1 - 100  Securities investment
EBARRES TERIET EFRE
Vincent Investments Limited* Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2 - 100 Property development
XERBRRAR R EER2ET NEER
Wang On Asset Management Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Provision of asset
Limited management services
ARAEERERRA BE ERRIER RUEEERRHY
Wang On Properties Services Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Provision of
Limited management services
ARBERBERAA N LERIEL RUER R
Wang On Services Limited Hong Kong Ordinary HK$1 - 100 Provision of

management services

EERHEBRAE &b LTRRIET REETERS
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CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)

Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Place of

incorporation and Issued ordinary

Name business share capital
£ AL REEE BRTEERAE
Wise Ocean International Limited ~ Hong Kong Ordinary HK$2
BEEBRBRAT 3 LAR2ET

* Certain bank loans of the Group are secured by share charges in

respect of the equity interests in these subsidiaries (note 30).

Details of the subsidiaries disposed of during the year

are summarised in note 35 to the financial statements.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company

which, in the opinion of the Company’s directors,

principally affected the results for the year or formed a

substantial portion of the net assets of the Group. To

give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the Company's directors, result in particulars of

excessive length.

1.

31 March 2022

—E - —_F=A=+—H

RAREBER (#)

FENBLR2ERE)

Percentage of

equity attributable  Principal
to the Company activities
AARAEEEEAIL TEXH
Direct  Indirect
EE A&
- 100  Property holding
RENR

* AEBETROTERBZEMBRARKRIEZ

P A0 ¥ A2 1F 45 48 (BY 3£ 30) -

FAEBHEZHNBRARFBR BB HRE
B SE358 it

ARREEZRRBLERAINZARTMEL
ARAFEXRETREAFELR/ASE
BEEFEZIEHND - ARAEFER
RHAJNEMHBARAZEN KBS RIESR
RILEK °
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2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION

These financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs") (which include all Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally accepted
in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been
prepared under the historical cost convention, except
for investment properties, debt investments at fair value
through other comprehensive income and financial
assets and financial liabilities at fair value through profit
or loss, which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars
("HK$") and all values are rounded to the nearest
thousand except when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries
for the year ended 31 March 2022. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or indirectly,
controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when the
Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee and has the ability to
affect those returns through its power over the investee
(i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current ability
to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

A RREE

ZEVBRERDBREZEGAMAE(E
BEMAE)EM 2T BB RS ER
(BEBMBBRESEANDOIBREMETE
M mEER BEEMEAN(ERS
FREADEZE)  BEAARGFRAR
FEERBKRIZEERERE - Bz
FEFEZREME BRAFEFAH
f2E e 2 EHRE RERFETA
BazeRMEEMNMERAGI  ZFH
BHREDBRBELEK AN ERE - BRE
EREIN  ZFMBHREABT(ERT])
25 MABREYHEEEKEOTI
2o

mEEXE

BREMBERREBEARARENB AR
BE-_T-_ A=+ RIFEZH
BHREk -WEBARAARNAREZLHEE
THEBER(BEABEER) - E4A5E
ZELABRBDM2EREHREBRE
ZAEER BB REHIREHRIEN
(B FAEEBRBENFTERELRA
BEB 2B TFEN ZEZERIMmE - A
EVEES kD I
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than
a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee,
the Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances
in assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@) the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements;
and

() the Group's voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared
for the same reporting period as the Company, using
consistent accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries
are consolidated from the date on which the Group
obtains control, and continue to be consolidated until
the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this
results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit
balance. All intra-group assets and liabilities, equity,
income, expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full on
consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are
changes to one or more of the three elements of control
described above. A change in the ownership interest of
a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is accounted for as
an equity transaction.

Bt #5 R M R (&

31 March 2022
—E - —_F=A=+—H

1 REEEE)

REEXE)

HWARRERAEEREEREHRZK
SRBUENIRAZH - AAKER
MEERTHREHREAR IR &
EZE—IHBEERER 8%

@) HERBEURHMREREAZEND
2k

(o) HMENRBMELEZEMN: K

© AEBZEERMNEBEERER-

BB AR R EARBRRZ &S HREE
RER—Bze@stBEREMBRE -
MEARZXEEASERGESNEZ
BRBGEEAR THEFSARERE
BRI ERILEZARLE -

BakEMr2EKESAEAKBLTLERB
RAEEFRBEEARIFZERES
BIE it SRS BORE R E S B IR B A A 8 o
ERASERERRAHERZZAEER
ARAIBEENRARE - #m WA X
RBEEREVDNFEREF2HIEHE -

WA EE RIS BER L XAt =@ 2= 5l
BLTERE - EXZBETERHRNED -
AIREEBEFRFERENENREY
Ro-MBARIZEARESEH (L ER
RIEFE)WRBBARZAR °
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2.1

2.2

BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)
Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises (i) the assets (including goodwill) and
liabilities of the subsidiary, (ii) the carrying amount of
any non-controlling interest and (iii) the cumulative
translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(i) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's
share of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss or
retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis as
would be required if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for
the first time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16
FEMBREERNEIR  BAESTEREION -
BEEMBREENFETR  BEMBRSER
FLRRB AV E R ELERF169R (BRI A)
Amendment to HKFRS 16

2.1

2.2

fm BB (%)
REEXE)

el 75 £% 18] 5k 25 9 BfY )8 2 m) 2 #2 il #E 0 R
RIEERNZMBLARZEE(BEEE)
RAE: (TR s 2 RkEmE: &
(iR ERARHEZ R REZEH L
RODWREZ2FE: ()FREEAR
B2 Rn¥E: Ri)BREPEAELE
EZBHLEA - AR HE 2K S
NERZAEEREFIEFTOEER
mHREBENWEE) ARiEZEE
HEASBEERLEHBEELREMRT
wEEMRR -

S BRERBEEZED

AEFBECRAFEZHBHREERRMH
THRERTBEEMBREER -

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phase 2

F|EEENE - F _ER

COVID-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond

30 June 2021

&8 M 5% s R ZE165% (B 7] &)

ZEFE - —FANHA=1THECOVID-19#6 5 11 % Bt
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRSs are
described below:

(@ Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt
with in the previous amendments which affect
financial reporting when an existing interest
rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative
risk-free rate (“"RFR"). The amendments provide a
practical expedient to allow the effective interest
rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying
amount of financial assets and liabilities when
accounting for changes in the basis for determining
the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of
the interest rate benchmark reform and the new
basis for determining the contractual cash flows
is economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the
interest rate benchmark reform to be made to
hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being
discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise
on transition are dealt with through the normal
requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise
hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also
provide a temporary relief to entities from having
to meet the separately identifiable requirement
when an RFR is designated as a risk component.
The relief allows an entity, upon designation of the
hedge, to assume that the separately identifiable
requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably
expects the RFR risk component to become
separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity
to disclose additional information to enable users
of financial statements to understand the effect
of interest rate benchmark reform on an entity’s
financial instruments and risk management strategy.

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY = (&)

31 March 2022
—E - —_F=A=+—H

22 EfBRRKREZRE(5)

KIETEAYHERELENNEG LT E
IR

@ BEUHHREERREIWR  FE G
HRIFEIN EAVBHREEAS
7% BAVBBREENFIRRE
7 B S R B165 2 B R AR
HA N REERA BN ER RN X
([ B B R R |) & & I BRORSEATE
AR ARREEBFEMBRE 2HA -
ZEFTRT-BEREERE 2
MEHBECEREERABEZANR
EREZEEZHETENRER
EHERMNEMEFTHESREE
REBEREE AREEHEEDR
MEEENBEHERRABEAR
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (Continued)

(@)

(Continued)

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank
borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars
based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
("HIBOR") as at 31 March 2022. The Group also had
interest rate swaps whereby the Group pays interest
at fixed rates and receives interest at variable rates
based on HIBOR on the notional amounts. The
Group expects that HIBOR will continue to exist
and the interest rate benchmark reform has not had
an impact on the Group's HIBOR-based borrowings
and interest rate swaps.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 issued in April 2021
extends the availability of the practical expedient
for lessees to elect not to apply lease modification
accounting for rent concessions arising as a
direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic by
12 months. Accordingly, the practical expedient
applies to rent concessions for which any reduction
in lease payments affects only payments originally
due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the
other conditions for applying the practical
expedient are met. The amendment is effective
retrospectively for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2021 with any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendment recognised as
an adjustment to the opening balance of retained
profits at the beginning of the current accounting
period. However, the Group has not received
covid-19-related rent concessions and plans to
apply the practical expedient when it becomes
applicable within the allowed period of application.

22 EfBRRKREZRE(5)
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective,

in these financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

BB RMERNEIRZEBETR

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)

EEUMBRELEYFIHRLE B ST ER

FRHE(ZE——F) 2B R
HKFRS 17
BB B W EERFET75R
Amendment to HKFRS 17

BRMBHREERENTR ZETAR

Amendments to HKFRS 17

BEVBEWMELBENR 2BER

Amendments to HKAS 1

BB EAFIR ZEFT X

Amendments to HKAS 1 and
HKFRS Practice Statement 2

BB EUNBIR 2EBITARE BTG
WEENE K ERE2NR

Amendments to HKAS 8

BB ERIFESR 2 IEF] R

Amendments to HKAS 12

BB ERE1295 2B A
Amendments to HKAS 16

BRI ERFE16HE ZEFT R
Amendments to HKAS 37
EBGRTERIEI7H 2 BT
Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

EEM BN = \FEZF=FF

ZFERE

Bt #5 R M R (&
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23 CHEMEEREMZERYTBR

4 g

R =~

AEBIRRNZEFVHRERAERT 5
ERMERRER IR REETER
B mEER -

Reference to the Conceptual Framework'

B HEZR 2 FE A

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture?

REEBABENAZE E PR EHEEHEHTA3

Insurance Contracts?

Rz & #72

Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9 — Comparative
Information?

BEAEREEDBEHREEREIIRRE B HREERES
¥ — HEEH?

Insurance Contracts? >

Rz & #4925

Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current?*

BESERTE I TE?

Disclosure of Accounting Policies?
AR K E?

Definition of Accounting Estimates?

B 185 EFE?

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction?

E—XSHELHEEER R B 6 2L HE?

Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended
Use’

Y - B ERRE KT FE AT EA R

Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract’

BRRAEA —ETTEAZ KA

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41!

EEVBREEMER - BEMBRSLERNFEN  BHE
BUBHRELEFIGHR 2 RO REEGFTEIENRZE
AT
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs 23 EHEMEERER Z2EEU B R

(Continued)

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

4 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements ——
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to
align the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

5 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are
expected to be applicable to the Group is described
below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a
reference to the previous Framework for the Preparation
and Presentation of Financial Statements with a reference
to the Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
issued in June 2018 without significantly changing its
requirements. The amendments also add to HKFRS 3
an exception to its recognition principle for an entity to
refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would
be within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if
they were incurred separately rather than assumed in
a business combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3
should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 respectively
instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not
qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The Group
expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively
to business combinations for which the acquisition date
is on or after the date of first application, the Group will
not be affected by these amendments on the date of
transition.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address
an inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS
10 and in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a full
recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a downstream
transaction when the sale or contribution of assets
between an investor and its associate or joint venture
constitutes a business. For a transaction involving assets
that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss resulting
from the transaction is recognised in the investor’s
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor's interest in that associate or joint venture.
The amendments are to be applied prospectively. The
previous mandatory effective date of amendments
to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the
HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a
broader review of accounting for associates and joint
ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current clarify the requirements for
classifying liabilities as current or non-current. The
amendments specify that if an entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying
with specified conditions, the entity has a right to defer
settlement of the liability at the end of the reporting
period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood
that the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of
the liability. The amendments also clarify the situations
that are considered a settlement of a liability. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting
Policies require entities to disclose their material
accounting policy information rather than their
significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose
financial statements make on the basis of those financial
statements. Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement
2 provide non-mandatory guidance on how to apply the
concept of materiality to accounting policy disclosures.
Amendments to HKAS 1 are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and earlier
application is permitted. Since the guidance provided
in the amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 is
non-mandatory, an effective date for these amendments
is not necessary. The Group is currently assessing the
impact of the amendments on the Group's accounting
policy disclosures.

Amendments to HKAS 8 clarify the distinction between
changes in accounting estimates and changes in
accounting policies. Accounting estimates are defined
as monetary amounts in financial statements that are
subject to measurement uncertainty. The amendments
also clarify how entities use measurement techniques
and inputs to develop accounting estimates. The
amendments are effective for annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023 and
apply to changes in accounting policies and changes
in accounting estimates that occur on or after the start
of that period. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 12 narrow the scope of the
initial recognition exception so that it no longer
applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences, such as leases
and decommissioning obligations. Therefore, entities
are required to recognise a deferred tax asset and a
deferred tax liability for temporary differences arising
from these transactions. The amendments are effective
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1
January 2023 and shall be applied to transactions related
to leases and decommissioning obligations at the
beginning of the earliest comparative period presented,
with any cumulative effect recognised as an adjustment
to the opening balance of retained profits or other
component of equity as appropriate at that date. In
addition, the amendments shall be applied prospectively
to transactions other than leases and decommissioning
obligations. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from
deducting from the cost of an item of property, plant and
equipment any proceeds from selling items produced
while bringing that asset to the location and condition
necessary for it to be capable of operating in the manner
intended by management. Instead, an entity recognises
the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost
of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1
January 2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to
items of property, plant and equipment made available
for use on or after the beginning of the earliest period
presented in the financial statements in which the
entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs

(Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose
of assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS
37, the cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs
that relate directly to the contract. Costs that relate
directly to a contract include both the incremental
costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct labour and
materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of
the depreciation charge for an item of property, plant
and equipment used in fulfilling the contract as well as
contract management and supervision costs). General
and administrative costs do not relate directly to a
contract and are excluded unless they are explicitly
chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2022 and shall be applied to
contracts for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its
obligations at the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which it first applies the amendments. Earlier
application is permitted. Any cumulative effect of
initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of
initial application without restating the comparative
information. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group's financial
statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.3 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HKFRSs
(Continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the
Group are as follows:

o HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees
that an entity includes when assessing whether
the terms of a new or modified financial liability
are substantially different from the terms of the
original financial liability. These fees include only
those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by
either the borrower or lender on the other’s behalf.
An entity applies the amendment to financial
liabilities that are modified or exchanged on or
after the beginning of the annual reporting period
in which the entity first applies the amendment.
The amendment is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2022. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendment is not
expected to have a significant impact on the
Group's financial statements.

o HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of
payments from the lessor relating to leasehold
improvements in lllustrative Example 13
accompanying HKFRS 16. This removes potential
confusion regarding the treatment of lease
incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXSTBEME

POLICIES
Investments in joint ventures

A joint venture is a type of joint arrangement whereby
the parties that have joint control of the arrangement
have rights to the net assets of the joint venture. Joint
control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of
an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about
the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of
the parties sharing control.

The Group's investments in joint ventures are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method of
accounting, less any impairment losses. Adjustments are
made to bring into line any dissimilar accounting policies
that may exist.

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of joint ventures is included
in consolidated profit or loss and other comprehensive
income, respectively. In addition, when there has been
a change recognised directly in the equity of the joint
venture, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting
from transactions between the Group and joint ventures
are eliminated to the extent of the Group's investments
in the joint ventures, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of joint
ventures is included as part of the Group's investments
in joint ventures.

Upon loss of joint control over the joint venture, the
Group measures and recognises any retained investment
at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of joint venture upon loss of joint control and the
fair value of the retained investment and proceeds from
disposal is recognised in profit or loss.

When an investment in a joint venture is classified as held
for sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS
5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued
Operations.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties, debt
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets and liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss at the end of each reporting
period. Fair value is the price that would be received
to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at
the measurement date. The fair value measurement is
based on the presumption that the transaction to sell
the asset or transfer the liability takes place either in
the principal market for the asset or liability, or in the
absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous
market for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.
The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using
the assumptions that market participants would use
when pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market
participants act in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes
into account a market participant’s ability to generate
economic benefits by using the asset in its highest and
best use or by selling it to another market participant
that would use the asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient
data are available to measure fair value, maximising the
use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use
of unobservable inputs.

Bt 75 ¥R 2R MY = (&)

31 March 2022
—E - —_F=A=+—H

24 EXEFBRMES)

AT EIH B

AEBEREREMRFEELREYE
BAFEFARMzZEAREZZEBERE
EREAFEFARENEREENARE -
R ERME2EENGAERPRERRF
RPGPHEEEMURBMKEZABAX
NzE®R - 2 FEAEDNBRRLEEE
HERRBECRXINEEXREBELTED
LREBETEMHEBATEEXRERE
REBEMBET TEXAKRAEET
LARASEREAZTE - BEEXRA
BZRAFEDERTS2BEREER
BETERAAZEBRFEERRMSEZ
HEXKBREZZERBNETE) -

FeMEEZATEFEFETSL2HE
ERBERAZEEZERRREEREX
HZEELETHERERES R&RES
BZA-MBE2EEMELALBERZLZ

2k,
BE °

AEBERMERANTEBRAEEBGRS
BEUNHRFAEBERATFEZEHEETE UE
EFERERABARGARBREERND
ERATAEREGABE -



122

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Wang On Properties Limited * Annual Report 2022

Bt %5 o & B & (F&)

31 March 2022
—E--_F=A=+—8H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured
or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised
within the fair value hierarchy, described as follows,
based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole:

Level 1 - based on quoted prices (unadjusted)
in active markets for identical assets
or liabilities

Level 2 - based on valuation techniques

for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either
directly or indirectly

Level 3 - based on valuation techniques
for which the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value
measurement is unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
financial statements on a recurring basis, the Group
determines whether transfers have occurred between
levels in the hierarchy by reassessing categorisation
(based on the lowest level input that is significant to the
fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each
reporting period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required (other
than deferred tax assets, properties under development,
properties held for sale, financial assets, investment
properties and a disposal company classified as held for
sale), the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An
asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of the asset’s
or cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an individual
asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows
that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to
which the asset belongs. In testing a cash-generating
unit for impairment, a portion of the carrying amount
of a corporate asset is allocated to an individual
cash-generating unit if it can be allocated on a
reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to the
smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows
are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset. An impairment loss is charged to profit or loss in
the period in which it arises in those expense categories
consistent with the function of the impaired asset.

Bt #5 R M R (&

31 March 2022
—E - —_F=A=+—H

24 EXEFBRMES)

FEMEEZRE

HWEFRBRHBERE AEFTEHEE
(RERBEE ZBRTYE FEHE
ME SREE REVERDIBERR
EHEN —HHERRBINIEFERE
A AESHEEZAIRDSE  BE
ZAREEEREEXREELEN L
EREERRAQNTFEBHEENAZERE
THEREEET MRIEELEEL
RHBYURNHEMEEXEEARNMGER
ERAZEERA MELBERT - BE
TEEMBRCEABMZAIKREIEER -
HReELBMETRERNAR - HAT
EeBER—BNEESEK MBI EE
BENREESNKE[AREELEM
BRINDEER/IMRESELEMASR -

HEBREREEZREEBAE AR
CEeRERNER EFEERBEERRK &
AARBAEREARAIMBRMREH
BE AANERBRENESHERBELT
LHEREEZSTRR - RERBED
EEELHEERaTEREEED®E
MR Z%EFRABRME -



124 Wang On Properties Limited * Annual Report 2022

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)
Bt 3% R R B 2 E (48)

31 March 2022
—E--_F=A=+—8H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXSTBEME#)

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of non-financial assets (Continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no longer
exist or may have decreased. If such an indication exists,
the recoverable amount is estimated. A previously
recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount
of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net
of any depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset in prior years. A
reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to profit
or loss in the period in which it arises.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) the party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or of a parent of the
Group;
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Related parties (Continued)
or

(b) the party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) the entity and the Group are members of the
same group;

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of
the other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or
fellow subsidiary of the other entity);

(iii)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of
the same third party;

(iv) one entity is a joint venture of a third entity
and the other entity is an associate of the third
entity;

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan
for the benefit of employees of either the
Group or an entity related to the Group;

(vi) the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by
a person identified in (a);

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of the
key management personnel of the entity (or of
a parent of the entity); and

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key management
personnel services to the Group or to the
parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses.
The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable
costs of bringing the asset to its working condition and
location for its intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs
and maintenance, is normally charged to profit or loss
in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure
for a major inspection is capitalised in the carrying
amount of the asset as a replacement. Where significant
parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such
parts as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to
write off the cost of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful
life. The principal annual rates used for this purpose are
as follows:

Owned assets:

Buildings

¥

Leasehold improvement

HEWMEREE

Furniture, fixtures and office equipment
B HERPRRE

Motor vehicles

A

Computer equipment

B R B

Right-of-use assets:

Leasehold land
ME i
Buildings

¥

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment
have different useful lives, the cost of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and
each part is depreciated separately. Residual values,
useful lives and the depreciation method are reviewed,
and adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial
year end.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(Continued)

An item of property, plant and equipment including
significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on
disposal or retirement recognised in profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the date the
underlying asset is available for use). Right-of-use assets
(other than those meet the definition of an investment
property) are measured at cost, less any accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted
for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease
payments made at or before the commencement date
less any lease incentives received. Right-of-use assets
are depreciated on a straight-line basis.

If ownership of the leased asset is transferred to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost reflects
the exercise of a purchase option, depreciation is
calculated using the estimated useful life of the asset.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and buildings
(including the leasehold property held as a right-of-use
asset which would otherwise meet the definition of
an investment property) held to earn rental income
and/or for capital appreciation, rather than for use in
the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary
course of business. Such properties are measured
initially at cost, including transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, investment properties are stated at
fair value, which reflects market conditions at the end of
the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values of
investment properties are included in profit or loss in the
year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an
investment property are recognised in profit or loss in
the year of the retirement or disposal.

When a right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset is
initially measured at cost, and subsequently measured
at fair value in accordance with the Group’s policy for
investment properties.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXSTBEME#)

POLICIES (Continued)

Non-current assets and disposal groups held for
sale

Non-current assets and disposal groups are classified as
held for sale if their carrying amounts will be recovered
principally through a sales transaction rather than
through continuing use. For this to be the case, the
asset or disposal group must be available for immediate
sale in its present condition subject only to terms that
are usual and customary for the sale of such assets or
disposal groups and its sale must be highly probable.
All assets and liabilities of a subsidiary classified as a
disposal group are reclassified as held for sale regardless
of whether the Group retains a non-controlling interest
in its former subsidiary after the sale.

Non-current assets and disposal groups (other than
investment properties and financial assets) classified as
held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amounts and fair values less costs to sell. Property,
plant and equipment (including right-of-use assets)
and intangible assets classified as held for sale are not
depreciated or amortised.

Properties under development

Properties under development are stated at the lower of
cost and net realisable value and comprise construction
costs, borrowing costs, professional fees, payments
for land use rights and other costs directly attributable
to such properties incurred during the development
period. Net realisable value is estimated based on the
prevailing market prices and estimated construction cost
on an individual property basis.

Properties under development are classified as current
assets unless the construction of the relevant property
development project is expected to complete beyond
the normal operating cycle. On completion, the
properties are transferred to completed properties held
for sale.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Properties under development (Continued)

Sales deposits/instalments received and receivable from
purchasers in respect of the pre-sale of properties under
development prior to completion of the development
are included in contract liabilities.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in
leasehold land held as properties under development,
they are subsequently measured at the lower of cost
and net realisable value in accordance with the Group's
policy for properties under development.

Properties held for sale

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. Cost is determined by an
apportionment of the total land and building costs
attributable to unsold properties. Net realisable value
is estimated by the Company'’s directors based on the
prevailing market prices on an individual property basis.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests in
leasehold land and held as completed properties held
for sale, they are subsequently measured at the lower
of cost and net realisable value in accordance with the
Group's policy for completed properties held for sale.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement

approach for all leases, except for short-term leases. The

Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease payments

and right-of-use assets representing the right to use the

underlying assets. The right-of-use assets are included in

property, plant and equipment, the accounting policy of

which are included in the policy for “Property, plant and

equipment and depreciation” above.

(a)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease at the present value of lease
payments to be made over the lease term. The
lease payments include fixed payments (including
in-substance fixed payments) less any lease incentives
receivable, variable lease payments that depend on
an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid
under residual value guarantees. The lease payments
also include the exercise price of a purchase option
reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the
lease term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate are recognised
as an expense in the period in which the event or
condition that triggers the payment occurs.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Lease liabilities (Continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments,
the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at
the lease commencement date because the interest
rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable.
After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments made.
In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change
in the lease term, a change in lease payments
(e.g., a change to future lease payments resulting
from a change in an index or rate) or a change in
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying
asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are included in other
payables and accruals in the statement of financial
position.

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or
less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). When the Group enters
into a lease in respect of a low-value asset, the
Group decides whether to capitalise the lease
on a lease-by-lease basis. Lease payments on
short-term leases are recognised as an expense on
a straight-line basis over the lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXSTBEME#)

POLICIES (Continued)
Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each of
its leases as either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an
asset are classified as operating leases. When a contract
contains lease and non-lease components, the Group
allocates the consideration in the contract to each
component on a relative stand-alone selling price basis.
Rental income is accounted for on a straight-line basis
over the lease terms and is included in revenue in “profit
or loss” due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs
incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating lease
are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset
and recognised over the lease term on the same basis
as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying assets to the
lessee are accounted for as finance leases.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for
managing them. With the exception of trade receivables
that do not contain a significant financing component or
for which the Group has applied the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial asset
at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not at
fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient are measured at the transaction
price determined under HKFRS 15 in accordance with
the policies set out for "Revenue recognition” below.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through other
comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
(“SPPI") on the principal amount outstanding. Financial
assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are classified and
measured at fair value through profit or loss, irrespective
of the business model.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets
in order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from collecting
contractual cash flows, selling the financial assets,
or both. Financial assets classified and measured at
amortised cost are held within a business model with
the objective to hold financial assets in order to collect
contractual cash flows, while financial assets classified
and measured at fair value through other comprehensive
income are held within a business model with the
objective of both holding to collect contractual cash
flows and selling. Financial assets which are not held
within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets
are recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that
the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular
way purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the period
generally established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial assets
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently
measured using the effective interest method and are
subject to impairment. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified
or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income (debt investments)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, interest income, foreign
exchange revaluation and impairment losses or
reversals are recognised in profit or loss and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured
at amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes
are recognised in other comprehensive income.
Upon derecognition, the cumulative fair value change
recognised in other comprehensive income is recycled
to profit or loss.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are
carried in the statement of financial position at fair value
with net changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.
This category includes derivative instruments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(Continued)

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a
financial liability or non-financial host, is separated from
the host and accounted for as a separate derivative if the
economic characteristics and risks are not closely related
to the host; a separate instrument with the same terms
as the embedded derivative would meet the definition
of a derivative; and the hybrid contract is not measured
at fair value through profit or loss. Embedded derivatives
are measured at fair value with changes in fair value
recognised in profit or loss. Reassessment only occurs
if there is either a change in the terms of the contract
that significantly modifies the cash flows that would
otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract
containing a financial asset host is not accounted for
separately. The financial asset host together with the
embedded derivative is required to be classified in its
entirety as a financial asset at fair value through profit or
loss.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from the
Group's consolidated statement of financial position)
when:

e the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or

e the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred
control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has
retained the risk and rewards of ownership of the asset.
When it has neither transferred nor retained substantially
all the risks and rewards of the asset nor transferred
control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise
the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a
guarantee over the transferred asset is measured at the
lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and
the maximum amount of consideration that the Group
could be required to repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXSTBEME#)

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs") for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale
of collateral held or other credit enhancements that are
integral to the contractual terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures
for which there has not been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are provided
for credit losses that result from default events that are
possible within the next 12 months (a 12-month ECL).
For those credit exposures for which there has been a
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected
over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the reporting
date with the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is available without undue cost or effort, including
historical and forward-looking information.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

For debt investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income, the Group applies the low
credit risk simplification. At each reporting date, the
Group evaluates whether the debt investments are
considered to have low credit risk using all reasonable
and supportable information that is available without
undue cost or effort. In making that evaluation, the
Group reassesses the external credit ratings of the
debt investments. In addition, the Group considers that
there has been a significant increase in credit risk when
contractual payments are more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are 90 days past due. However,
in certain cases, the Group may also consider a
financial asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive
the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by
the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is
no reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual
cash flows.
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2.4 SUMMARY O

(%&)

F SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other

comprehensiv
amortised cost
general approa

e income and financial assets at
are subject to impairment under the
ch and they are classified within the

following stages for measurement of ECLs except for

trade receivable

s and contract assets which apply the

simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 -

Stage 2 -

Stage 3 -

Financial instruments for which credit
risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Financial instruments for which
credit risk has increased significantly
since initial recognition but that are
not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Financial assets that are credit-
impaired at the reporting date (but
that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the
loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or when the Group applies the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Group applies
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the
simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance
based on lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The
Group has established a provision matrix that is based
on its historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and the
economic environment.

For trade receivables that contain a significant financing
component and lease receivables, the Group chooses as
its accounting policy to adopt the simplified approach in
calculating ECLs with policies as described above.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss,
loans and borrowings or payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value
and, in case of loans and borrowings and payables, net
of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other
payables, financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXSTBEME#)

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities
depends on their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss
include financial liabilities held for trading and financial
liabilities designated upon initial recognition as at fair
value through profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are classified as held for trading if
they are incurred for the purpose of repurchasing in
the near term. This category also includes derivative
financial instruments entered into by the Group that
are not designated as hedging instruments in hedge
relationships as defined by HKFRS 9. Separated
embedded derivatives are also classified as held for
trading unless they are designated as effective hedging
instruments. Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading
are recognised in profit or loss. The net fair value gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss does not include any
interest charged on these financial liabilities.

Financial liabilities designated upon initial recognition
as at fair value through profit or loss are designated at
the initial date of recognition, and only if the criteria
in HKFRS 9 are satisfied. Gains or losses on liabilities
designated at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised in profit or loss, except for the gains or
losses arising from the Group’s own credit risk which
are presented in other comprehensive income with no
subsequent reclassification to profit or loss. The net fair
value gain or loss recognised in profit or loss does not
include any interest charged on these financial liabilities.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Financial liabilities (Continued)

Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and
borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and
borrowings are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest rate method unless the
effect of discounting would be immaterial, in which case
they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are recognised
in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation
process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in finance
costs in profit or loss.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are
those contracts that require a payment to be made to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because the
specified debtor fails to make a payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. A
financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a
liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs
that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contracts at the higher
of: (i) the ECLs allowance determined in accordance
with the policy as set out in “Impairment of financial
assets”; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, the cumulative amount of income
recognised.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedge
accounting

Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

The Group's derivative financial instruments include
interest rate swaps. Such derivative financial instruments
are initially recognised at fair value on the date on
which a derivative contract is entered into and are
subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are
carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as
liabilities when the fair value is negative.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in fair value of
derivatives are taken directly to profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation
under the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another
from the same lender on substantially different terms,
or the terms of an existing liability are substantially
modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as
a derecognition of the original liability and a recognition
of a new liability, and the difference between the
respective carrying amounts is recognised in profit or
loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the statement of financial
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to
offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention
to settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle
the liabilities simultaneously.

24 EXEFBRMES)

TEESRMIARE PSS

NERARAELTE
AEEBNTESRMITABREMNKIEH -
ZETESRTANRKZITETAEGD
RAIVERZRAFEER HEANZEQF
EEFFE - TEAITARAFERLER
RIRAREE RAFERBHEZ
RRARE-

67 4 T A A T 8 % 8 2= 2 2 E IR
HEBHABS -

RIEBRESRMEE

WEBETZETERBITHREHIER -
TRHAEEGRIE®ER -

ERAERMABERRA-ERANRBTF
ZHEFRREzZZ—ERBERNR - KR
BREZGHRARER  RAKBRHERT
AR ARIIERRABEMERNEE
MAMEEECH =R EBEERP

TR I A ZEH

TREENERAEIAEE  FHEE
B RATR AR Z B ATA A 8
TAERNBHCERSBRILABEF
HMEAEFEE FABEEEEREER

g o



RRWERRAR « —2-—F55 147

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand
and demand deposits, and short term highly liquid
investments that are readily convertible into known
amounts of cash, are subject to an insignificant risk of
changes in value, and have a short maturity of generally
within three months when acquired, less bank overdrafts
which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of
financial position, cash and cash equivalents comprise
cash on hand and at banks, including term deposits, and
assets similar in nature to cash, which are not restricted
as to use.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal
or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and
it is probable that a future outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation, provided that a reliable
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the
end of the reporting period of the future expenditures
expected to be required to settle the obligation. The
increase in the discounted present value amount arising
from the passage of time is included in finance costs in
profit or loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income
tax relating to items recognised outside profit or loss
is recognised outside profit or loss, either in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the
end of the reporting period, taking into consideration
interpretations and practices prevailing in the countries
in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on
all temporary differences at the end of the reporting
period between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and
their carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

*  when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

® in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
when the timing of the reversal of the temporary
differences can be controlled and it is probable
that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be
utilised, except:

e when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from
the initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and,
at the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

e in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries,
deferred tax assets are only recognised to the
extent that it is probable that the temporary
differences will reverse in the foreseeable future
and taxable profit will be available against which
the temporary differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of each reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of the
deferred tax asset to be utilised. Unrecognised deferred
tax assets are reassessed at the end of each reporting
period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to
be recovered.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXSTBEME#)

POLICIES (Continued)
Income tax (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based
on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset
if and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to
set off current tax assets and current tax liabilities and
the deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate
to income tax levied by the same taxation authority
on either the same taxable entity or different taxable
entities which intend either to settle current tax liabilities
and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets and
settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period
in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is intended
to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
When the consideration in a contract includes a variable
amount, the amount of consideration is estimated
to which the Group will be entitled in exchange for
transferring the goods or services to the customer.
The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable
that a significant revenue reversal in the amount of
cumulative revenue recognised will not occur when the
associated uncertainty with the variable consideration is
subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is measured at
the present value of the amount receivable, discounted
using the discount rate that would be reflected in a
separate financing transaction between the Group and
the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the
Group with a significant financial benefit for more
than one year, revenue recognised under the contract
includes the interest expense accreted on the contract
liability under the effective interest method. For a
contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods
or services is one year or less, the transaction price is
not adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
POLICIES (Continued)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Sales of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is recognised
at the point in time when the purchaser obtained
the physical possession or the legal title of
the completed property and the Group has a
present right to payment and the collection of the
consideration is probable.

Provision of asset management services
Management fee income comprises base management
fees, asset management fees, project management
fees and development management fees which are
recognised over time; and lease fees, acquisition fees
and promote fees which are recognised at point in
time.

Base management fees and asset management
fees derived from management of property leasing
business are determined based on net equity
invested in these investment vehicles and the
operating income of related investment vehicles,
respectively.

Project management fees are recognised over
the scheduled period on a straight-line basis
because the customer simultaneously receives and
consumes the benefits provided by the Group.

Development management fees are earned
on a straight-line basis in accordance with the
relevant project construction cost across the entire
construction period.
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Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING

POLICIES (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b)  Provision of asset management services
(Continued)
Lease fees relates to fees earned in consideration
of the leasing services for the property leasing
business of customers.

Acquisition fees relates to fees earned in relation
to the acquisition of properties by customers.
The acquisition fees are determined based on
the acquisition cost of the properties and are
recognised when the services have been rendered.

Promote fees relates to fees earned where the
returns of the property development projects
and property leasing business of customers
exceed certain specified hurdles. Promote fee is
recognised on the date that the Group's right to
receive payment is established.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis
over the lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not
depend on an index or a rate are recognised as income
in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts over
the expected life of the financial instrument to the net
carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders'
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably.

Bt %5 o & B & (4D

31 March 2022
—E - —_F=A=+—H

24 EXREHABRBE®)

WARRE)

REEFEHNZBWAE)
(b) EREEEERHE (E)

HEEREREFPNMEREXHKIER
HHEHERGMESHER -

WEEBELEFPKRBYEMES
ER - BBEREYVENEBRAN
BE - WHERERBERER -

*ﬁ%%%ﬁ%%%%@ﬁﬁﬁm
XHEEXBNEORBLE THEE

%%%%%W%%°EEEE$%
B AR R A L E AR

KB HAMRIFEZWA

HE WA TR AR L RER -
THREZAERMENAZEMEENKE
EENSAHEBRIR/UEA -

H it A
MEWRATDEBRABEERRNESRT
AEHFHNRAFRINARREEES
MEERBFEMNMNE  LERMN XX
HRAFTEERER o

A% B U A 7E % B Uk R FR T8 A A A RE ST
HRBEEENKEENEZTRERARNEE
BB SRR EH T 2R ER



154 Wang On Properties Limited ¢ Annual Report 2022

Notes to Financial Statements (Continued)

Bt %5 o & B & (F&)

31 March 2022
—E--_F=A=+—8H

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 24 EXSTBEME#)

POLICIES (Continued)
Contract assets

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange
for goods or services transferred to the customers. If
the Group performs by transferring goods or services to
a customer before the customer pays consideration or
before payment is due, a contract asset is recognised for
the earned consideration that is conditional. Contract
assets are subject to impairment assessment, details
of which are included in the accounting policies for
impairment of financial assets.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a
customer before the Group transfers the related goods
or services. Contract liabilities are recognised as revenue
when the Group performs under the contract (i.e.,
transfers control of the related goods or services to the
customer).

Contract costs

Cost to fulfil a contract

Other than the costs which are capitalised as properties
under development and property, plant and equipment,
costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a customer are
capitalised as an asset if all of the following